

UNIVERSITY OF GOTHENBURG school of business, economics and law

Managing innovation from a leadership perspective in an IT-consultancy firm - A case study of Cybercom Group



Authors: Daniel Eriksson and Lukas Bard

Graduate School Master's degree Project of Knowledge-based Entrepreneurship

> Supervisor University: Erik Gustafsson, PhD. Supervisor Cybercom: Carl Henrikson

Managing innovation from a leadership perspective in an IT-consultancy firm

- A case study of Cybercom Group

By Daniel Eriksson and Lukas Bard © Daniel Eriksson and Lukas Bard School of Business, Economics and Law, University of Gothenburg, Vasagatan 1, P.O. Box 600, SE 405 30 Gothenburg, Sweden

Institute of Innovation and Entrepreneurship

All rights reserved.

No part of this thesis may be distributed or reproduced without the written permission by the authors.

Contact: erikssonss94@gmail.com and lukas.bard@gmail.com

Abstract

The IT-consultancy industry faces a paradigm shift. Successfully transform from resource-based consulting to asset-based consulting can be the difference between prosperity and being disrupted away. Instead of fulfilling customers' requirements, IT-consultancy firms have to develop organisational capabilities in managing innovative solutions. Hence, effective innovation management practices can be vital to establish and foster innovation. The IT-consultancy firm's decision-makers are therefore facing a crucial decision, not necessarily *if* investing in innovation is the right decision, instead *which* innovation management practices are effective in *how* to manage innovation more standardised.

The purpose of this study is to explore effective innovation management practices from a leadership perspective in an IT-consultancy organisation and answer the research question: "What is considered as effective innovation management practices from a leadership perspective in an IT-consultancy firm?"

This was managed by conducting a qualitative single case study of the IT-consultancy firm Cybercom Group. The theoretical framework of effective innovation management practices validates by interviewing ten leaders with decision-making positions for managing innovation in Cybercom. Hence, this process targets to answer the research question. Three leadership levels approach; Leaders, Middle Leaders and Top Leader. The abductive approach of the study enabled the authors to readjust the theoretical framework iteratively in comparison with respondents and validating or rebut the segments of the theoretical framework.

The findings identified by the authors are based on the theoretical framework, empirical findings and the analysis in between. First, managing innovation effectively can, to a certain degree, be managed by one standardised innovation management practice. However, to manage innovation more effectively, several innovation management practices can be combined and mutually reinforce innovation to be managed effectively. Secondly, Top Leaders mandate and commitment to innovation are fundamental for Leaders and Middle Leaders to practice innovation management effectively. Lastly, establishing innovation management practices centrally in the organisation can benefit a collaborative environment, shared understanding and decrease silo practices. All the findings will increase the understanding of what is considered as effective innovation management practices in an IT-consultancy firm, from a leadership perspective.

Keywords: Innovation, Successful innovation, Innovation management, Innovation management systems, Innovation excellence, IT-consultancy industry, Asset-based consulting, ISO 56002:2019

Acknowledgements:

We would like to start with expressing our gratitude to Cybercom Group for giving us the opportunity to conduct this study. An extra thank you to Cybercom and the Innovation Zone in Gothenburg and Henrik Lundqvist who has assisted with office space, supplies, support and a great time. Secondly, our sincerest appreciation goes to our supervisor at Cybercom Group, Carl Henrikson, thank you for inspiring and introducing us to the world of IT-consulting, the current transformation, and support throughout this study. Thirdly, we want to thank Sven Beiker from Stanford University and Gabriel Granström from Nordic Innovation House for taking their time to meet us during our fieldtrip to Silicon Valley, US. We would also like to direct a thank you to our supervisor at the School of Business, Economic, and Law at the University of Gothenburg, Erik Gustafsson for support and valuable guidance throughout the process of this study. Finally, we want to express our gratitude to family, friends, and partners for the support and motivation during the study.

Gothenburg, June 7, 2020

Daniel Eriksson

Lukas Bard

Table of Contents:

1. Introduction	1
1.1 Background	1
1.2 Problem discussion	3
1.3 Purpose and research question	4
1.4 Delimitations	5
1.5 Thesis disposition	6
2. Theoretical Framework	7
2.1 Defining innovation management	7
2.2 Leadership and innovation management	8
2.3 Innovation management systems	9
2.3.1 Organisational context	12
2.4 Innovation excellence	13
2.4.1 The innovation excellence framework	14
2.4.2 Measuring and evaluating innovation performance	20
2.5 Customer-centric approach	21
2.5.1 Customer-centricity and innovation management	22
2.6 Conceptual model	24
3. Methodology	26
3.1 Research strategy	26
3.2 Research design	26
3.2.2 Case study	28
3.2.1 Pre-study	28
3.3 Research method	29
3.3.1 Primary data collection	29
3.3.1.1 Selection of interviewees	30
3.3.1.2 Conducting the interviews	30
3.3.2 Secondary data collection	32
3.4 Data analysis	33
3.4.1 Thematic analysis	33
3.5 Research quality	34

4. Empirical findings	35
4.1 Systematic way of working	35
4.1.2 Innovation management system	35
4.1.3 Systematized process of measure and evaluate innovation performance	36
4.1.4 Industry challenges	37
4.2 Strategy	38
4.2.1 Innovation vision	38
4.2.2 Innovation strategy	38
4.2.3 Innovation strategy's value in business strategy	39
4.2.4 Key performance indicators	39
4.2.5 Customer-centric approach	40
4.3 Leadership capabilities	41
4.3.1 Leadership's commitment to innovation	41
4.3.2 Leadership's strengths and weaknesses	42
4.3.3 Innovation management system	44
4.4 Common understanding	45
4.4.1 Common understanding of innovation	45
4.4.2 The fundamental difference between invention and innovation	45
4.4.3 Focusing on value creation	46
4.3 Summary of empirical findings	48
5. Analysis	50
5.1 Analysis model	50
5.2 Innovation management systems	51
5.2.1 Systematic way of working	51
5.2.2 Strategy	53
5.2.3 Leadership capabilities	56
5.2.4 Common understanding	57
5.3 Innovation excellence	58
5.3.1 Systematic way of working	58
5.3.2 Strategy	60
5.3.3 Leadership capabilities	61

5.3.4 Common understanding	64
5.4 Customer centric approach	65
5.4.1 Systematic way of working	65
5.4.2 Strategy	67
5.4.3 Leadership capabilities	68
5.4.4 Common understanding	69
6. Conclusion	71
6.1 Background to answering the research question	71
6.2 Answering the research question	71
6.3 Conceptualising effective innovation management practices	73
7. Practical recommendations for Cybercom	76
7.1 practical recommendations	76
8. Further research	77

List of Figures:

Figure 1: Thesis disposition, designed by authors Figure 2: The aggregated framework for assessing a firm's innovation excellence, designed by Dervitsiotis (2010) illustrated by authors Figure 3: Conceptual model of the theoretical framework, designed by the authors Figure 4: The thematic analysis-process, designed by authors Figure 5: Conceptual model of the conclusion, designed by authors

List of Tables:

Table 1: Innovation management system based on ISO 56002 standard (2019), illustrated by authors **Table 2:** Innovation management system designed by authors, inspired by ISO 56002 standard (2019)
Table 3: Innovation excellence defined by Dervitiotis (2010), illustrated by authors

Table 4: Innovation excellence designed by authors, inspired by Dervitiotis (2010)

Table 5: An overview of the study's methodology-process, designed by authors

Table 6: Overview of interviews, designed by authors

Table 7: Summary of empirical findings, designed by authors

Table 8: Analysis model, designed by authors

List of Appendixes:

Appendix 1: Interview guide, designed by authors **Appendix 2:** Thematic analysis – 81 concepts derived from 599 codes, designed by authors **Appendix 3:** Thematic analysis – 5 themes derived from 81 concepts, designed by authors Appendix 4: Analysis model, designed by authors Appendix 5: The ISO 56002:2019-Framework (ISO 56002 standard., 2019), illustrated by authors

1. Introduction

This chapter gives an introduction and a background to the specific setting for the topic of this study. Thereafter, the purpose and research question which will be presented. This is followed by a description of this study's delimitation and disposition.

1.1 Background

Many scholars consider innovation to be the primary driving force for progress and prosperity in business today, both on the individual firm level and for the economy in general (Schumpeter, 1934; Nelson & Winter, 1982; Tushman & Nadler, 1986). Previous research has further pointed at the central role of innovation capabilities. That innovative firms tend to facilitate higher profitability, higher market value, superior credit ratings, and thus, higher chances of survival and prosperity (Geroski, Machin & Van Reenen, 1993; Hall, 2000).

Hence, the development and capability of managing innovation is crucial for companies as to create competitive advantage and to be capable of surviving industry transformations (Porter, 1980; Basoglu, Daim, Dogan, Taskin & Gomez, 2013). Teece, Pisano & Shuen (1997) state that companies with capabilities to effectively and continuously innovate in response to expressed needs are the ones crowned as winners in the global marketplace. Grant (1991) further points that organisation's development of innovation capabilities is vital to provide the organisation with continuous and stable flows of innovations.

The extensive and multidisciplinary application of innovation has resulted in a wide range of definitions. The lack of one standard multidisciplinary definition contributes to uncertainty and confusion for how to define innovation, which has resulted in a challenge for organisations (Baregheh et al., 2009). This calls for a commonly accepted definition of innovation. Accordingly, the authors of this study have experienced the definition of innovation being often wrongly applied to not yet commercialised inventions. The invention is not an innovation because it is not yet commercialised (Stevens & Burley, 1996). Innovation is either the result of designing an invention or using an existing invention differently, but always paid for by a market actor (Hakkarainen & Talonen's, 2014). Although the commercialised invention does not necessarily return its related investments, the innovation will become a successful innovation when the return on investments has been reached, and there is an indication of future profit (Steven & Burley, 1996). Hence, the definition of successful innovation will be further be applied accordingly in this study.

The global digitalisation of businesses and rapid development of disruptive technologies enable greater access to resources, increases and reorganises competition and the risk of being disrupted away (Tidd, Pavitt & Bessant 2005; Christensen, 2013). Due to these recent advances in disruptive technologies, digitalisation has emerged and reorganised the business environment (Christensen, 2013). Incumbents have to be innovative in developing new business models and streamline

solutions based on customer needs to stay competitive. Alternatively, the risk for creative destruction and destruction of competencies cannot be reduced (Tripsas, 1997). Accordingly, the IT-consultancy industry is in a paradigm shift were traditional boundaries between market segments are vanishing, and global competition is a fact. The competitive game sphere is changing rapidly, not only due to digitalisation, but also the considerable changes and growing requirements from clients. (Nissen, 2018). Seifert & Nissen (2018) states that IT-consultancy firms should counter this by applying flexible delivery models, adaptable to the rapidly evolving needs of the clients.

Christensen (2013) claims that the transformation from resource-based consulting toward assetbased consulting can help IT-consultancy firms to sustain and strengthen their market position. Hence service-offerings provided in asset-based consulting can be multiplied and scaled to a more significant extent than in resource-based consulting, where the central role of employees performing the services hinders scalability. Also, asset-based consulting is generally performed at a lower price than traditional resources-based consulting due to virtualisation and hence efficiency, speed and productivity (Christensen, 2013). Asset-based consulting also creates a lock-in effect on the customer, consequently, the more the customer utilises the service, the more the service can be customised for the customer's needs and the higher the switching costs for the customer. This led to greater loyalty and higher profitability for the supplier (Nissen, 2018). Christensen (2013) defines asset-based consulting as the packaging of ideas, frameworks, analytics, processes, and intellectual property for optimal delivery through software or other technology. Christensen (2013) claims that with the same workforce, more projects can be successfully conducted and thus improve operation's margins.

The current paradigm shift, the increased global competition and the advances in disruptive technologies and potential transformation from resource-based- to asset-based consulting, indicates an increasing need for managing the development of new business models and services. This consequently increases the importance of ensuring a leadership which can effectively adapt to and master innovation management (Volberad, Van den Bosch & Jansen, 2006). This can be managed by leveraging the organisations' existing knowledge base, improve organisational innovativeness, increase productivity and develop competencies to survive the transformational environment in the IT-consultancy industry (Nissen, 2018).

Therefore, this study will further investigate the phenomenon of the IT-consultancy industry through the perspective of the IT-consultancy firm Cybercom Group. Cybercom is part of the above paradigm shift where innovation constitutes a critical area of their strategy. The organisation is one of many IT-consultancy firms that have to develop effective innovation management practices for leaders in charge of the development of innovation. Consequently, the transformation from resource-based to assets-based consulting requires new methods of developing innovative solutions to ensure prosperity in the future.

1.2 Problem discussion

The framing conditions for standard IT-consulting services has become increasingly competitive, resulting in eroding margins for IT-consulting services (Nissen, 2018). Consequently, standard services become more exchangeable resulting in reduced pricing power for IT-consulting firms, hence cost-effective measures can be required (Nissen, 2018). Additionally, the client's inclination to unbundle consulting engagements and buy services from different providers in their pursuit to find the best solutions further aggravates the situation (Parakala, 2015). The transformation can result in IT-consultancy firms not investing in increasing the correct capabilities and running the risks of being disrupted by having obsolete competencies and traditional business models. Conversely, IT-consultancy firms can obtain competitive advantages by establishing innovation management practices that allow leaders of organisations to effectively manage and develop innovation (Karlsson & Magnusson, 2019). Thus, strengthening their preparations for transformational challenges that could jeopardise the firms' prosperity.

Firms ability to identify potential signs in early indications, understanding them, to explore and exploit accurately upon them, increases the possibility to gain competitive advantages (Ansoff, 1975). The competition of the IT-consultancy industry is increasing, and the importance of organisations' ability to effectively master innovation management is essential (Nissen, 2018). Especially when facing transformational trends as; digitalisation of society, digital natives, soaring online trade, artificial intelligence, business engagement in digital products and services, and consulting services hardened framing conditions (Nissen, 2018). To stay relevant in the IT-consultancy industry, leadership constitutes an essential part as they have to establish effective innovation management to be able to adapt and deliver new value offerings towards a future market embraced by above mention trends (Nissen, 2018).

Besides, Cybercom, being a multi-national organisation and with customers providing their customers in several countries with the latest technology, indicates a substantial need for managing innovation effectively not to encounter the potential to be replaced by competitors. Cybercom's current strategy is targeting to transform the standard IT-consulting services in meeting customers' requirements to provide clients with assets, and hence transforming client's business models. The Cybercom strategy, 2020 states:

"We are a solutions consultancy company in connectivity, sustainability and innovation. We chose to work with clients where we can provide high added value, and we orchestrate our client's transformation." – Cybercom's strategy, 2020

Consequently, the authors were temporarily recruited to the Innovation Zone department at Cybercom in Gothenburg, where the assignment was initially to identify how innovation is managed at the local innovation management department. By participating in operational activities related to innovation, the authors realised that the IT-consultancy industry has two main

perspectives on innovation. First, innovation is provided to clients as a consultancy-service, and second, innovation is managed internally, where activities as facilitating innovation capabilities, measure innovation results and establishment of internal systems for innovation management is essential. During the operational activates as meetings, workshops and seminars the authors identified the lack of the second, internal innovation management focus and that the internal focus on innovation can leverage the delivery of successful innovation to existing and new clients.

Moreover, the authors used literature databases to search for innovation management in the ITconsultancy industry and identified a gap in existing literature for effective innovation management practices from a leadership perspective. The study can hence contribute to the existing literature by exploring effective innovation management practices in the transforming ITconsultancy industry from a leadership perspective. The challenges of this transformation correspond to all organisations in the IT-consultancy industry, and actions will be necessary to survive in the rapidly changing environment (Nissen, 2018).

Thereby, the authors initiated a single case-study of Cybercom's organisational innovation management practises from a leadership perspective. The organisations' ongoing transformation of renewing their business model towards asset-based consulting, is considered as a significant opportunity of exploration regarding a systematic approach towards effective innovation management practises. Consequently, acknowledged international standards from ISO: Innovation Management Capabilities Assessment and the innovation management standard ISO 56002:2019 (ISO 56002 standard., 2019) gave perquisites for a comprehensive and systematic starting point of this study.

1.3 Purpose and research question

The purpose of this study is to explore effective innovation management practices from a leadership perspective in an IT-consultancy organisation. This will be managed by a single case study of the IT-consultancy firm Cybercom Group.

Following research question has been formulated based on the purpose, background and casestudy:

What is considered as effective innovation management practices from a leadership perspective in an IT-consultancy firm?

By answering the research question, the study will contribute with a theoretical perspective on how three levels of leadership consider effective innovation management practices. The three leader-levels are; i) leaders responsible for daily operational activities and its employees ii) leaders responsible of the leaders mentioned above iii) leaders with the highest responsibility for departments or strategic initiatives. This choice is motivated by the current lack of research on this

specific topic of innovation management practises from a leadership perspective. Consequently, exploring leaders' considerations of innovation management, in a single-case study, can be of great value to validate the relevancy of further and broader explorations. Applying ISO 56002:2019 (ISO 56002 standard, 2019), and the innovation excellence, a theoretical state-of-art framework (Dervitsiotis, 2010; Bassiti & Ajhoun, 2016), to this exploration provide the authors of this study with prerequisites in answering the research question.

Moreover, the research provides a model for effective innovation management practice for leaders in the IT-consultancy industry, thus building on the minor amount of existing literature of effective innovation management practices for leaders. The leader-perspective of effective innovation management practices is not yet fully developed within these constraints, this research can contribute to a further understanding among leaders for future adoption of innovation management practices in the IT-consultancy industry.

1.4 Delimitations

The study's first limitation is to define leadership as leaders managing a controlling position (N.E., n.d.). Also, leadership is further defined as leaders' ability to lead and influence others in a given context (Oxford dictionary, n.d.). Secondly, this study will consider a strategic and theoretical perspective in front of a practical and operational. Thirdly, individuals' background, characteristics or titles are not considered. This because the background and characteristics would require a more comprehensive timeframe and including titles would jeopardise our promise of individuals' anonymity. Forth, the authors have delimited this study to focus on leaders with close relationship and mandate to foster innovation management in Cybercom Group.

Consequently, leaders belonging to the Innovation Zone departments and Business Advisory departments has been focused on as these departments are closely connected to the organisation's innovation processes. Lastly, employees with no decision-making power will not be investigated as the authors have delimited this study to focus on the leadership perspective and leaders with decision-making mandate in managing innovation. This due to the limited timeframe of the research and need of a more comprehensive data collection.

Given the limitations above, no external customers have been advised or any benchmark performed. Consequently, this study will be limited in focusing on the leadership in the Innovation Zone- and Business advisory departments' and study effective innovation management practices considered by the leadership in Cybercom Group.

1.5 Thesis disposition



Figure 1-*Thesis disposition, designed by authors.*

2. Theoretical Framework

The following chapter will present the theoretical framework. First, the value and feasibility of innovation management will be defined and followed by specifying the leaderships role in innovation management. Second, effective innovation management concepts are presented from a leadership perspective. The concepts are presented followingly: innovation management systems, innovation excellence and customer-centric-approach. Last, the conceptual model is summarising the theoretical framework and the interrelationships of the concepts.

2.1 Defining innovation management

To create a better understanding of innovation, and what potential impact it might have on a company's competitiveness, the role of innovation management is increasing. According to scholars, innovation management is involving changes in a firm's organisational form, practices and processes in a way that is "new" to the firm and the industry (Karlsson & Magnusson, 2019). This to leveraging the firm's knowledge base and improve organisational performance in terms of managing innovation, which results in increased productivity and competitiveness (Volberad et al., 2006). According to Teece (2007), the business environment is changing due to rapid development and fast pace changes in technology, with notions such as product development, and radical versus incremental innovation. Additionally, existing trade barriers and transaction costs are decreasing, which results in the markets being overheated and stagnated. Hence, the competition is increasing, which forces companies forces to consider innovation of non-technological kind (Karlsson & Magnusson, 2019). To sustain competitive advantages, companies have to identify possible changes in the context of management within the firm, referred to as innovation management (Volberda et al., 2013).

Daft & Becker (1978) define technological innovation as the introduction of changes in technology and how these changes relate to the main activities of the organisation. Innovation management is performed to reflect and process changes in the way an organisation works with management (Birkinshaw Hamel & Mol, 2008). Accordingly, a definition of innovation management is according to Birkinshaw et al. (2008, p. 1.) "...the invention and implementation of a management practice, process/structure, or technique that is a new state of the art and is intended to further organisational goals". Thus, it gives a better understanding of the usually expressed purpose of innovation management among scholars, which is to increase the effectiveness and efficiency of firms (e.g., Birkinshaw et al. 2008; Teece, 1980; Hamel, 2006). However, effective innovation management cannot be achieved or developed if the leadership is not directed towards it. Thus, the establishment and development of innovation management are dependent on leaders in charge (Karlsson and Magnusson, 2019).

2.2 Leadership and innovation management

Leadership is central in design processes, structures and climate for organisational innovativeness and to motivate teams towards innovations (Wipulanusat, Panuwatwanich & Stewart, 2017). Additionally, leadership plays an essential role in overcoming challenges, enhance organisational capabilities and addressing barriers to retrieve organisational alignment (Carmeli, Gelbard & Gefen, 2010; Beer, Voelpel, Leibold & Tekie, 2005). Fundamental leadership skills are vital to focus on and improve, due to leadership skills role as key for increasing organisational capabilities (Beer et al., 2005). The "7Cs", introduced by Beer et al. (2005) sets out seven organisational capabilities fundamental for managing a successful implementation of most strategies and simultaneously supports managers to identify strengths and weaknesses. They are, therefore considered as vital for leaders to possess to effectively practise innovation management (Birkinshaw et al., 2008). The seven organisational capabilities for successful implementation of innovation strategies, among other strategies, are 1) coordination, 2) competence, 3) commitment, 4) communication, 5) conflict management, 6) creativity, 7) capacity management. Accordingly, leadership- and organisational capabilities are vital for organisational- alignment, innovativeness, adaptability and efficiency (Carmeli et al., 2010: Beer et al., 2005: Panuwatwanich et al., 2017). Consequently, the above seven organisational capabilities are key since every organisation faces challenges of adapting to its environments and can hence survive in overcoming these challenges (Aldrich, 1979).

Merging leadership and innovation into the organisational context, demonstrating innovation leadership fosters a climate more capable and adaptable for changing environments, which facilities more control and efficiency for managers in managing changes in environments (Carmeli et al., 2010). Innovation Management Systems as ISO 56002:2019 guides organisations and leaders to design and managing innovation management practices more systematically and iteratively. The ISO Innovation Management System 56002:2019 (ISO 56002 standard., 2019) strives for increased organisational capabilities and decreased barriers as unclear strategy, poor communication and low efficiency, with an overall focus on establishing processes for innovation management. Rothman & Koch (2014) highlights the value of innovation and creativity in most business strategies today. Gumusluoğlu and Ilsev (2009) & Rousseau et al., (2013) stresses the importance of leaders support to employees in their creative process, this because innovation and creativity are not enabled automatically from employees without leader's support.

Further, organisational alignment is widely discussed in business literature. Prominent research state that productive and competitive organisations have reached alignment in organisational-structure, environment, strategy, technology, culture and leadership (Beer et al., 2005). To manage a successful transition to organisational alignment, leaders in organisations have to be aware of barriers preventing leaders of organisations from solving the persistent problem of aligning the organisation with changes in strategy (Beer et al., 2005). Therefore, the six main barriers presented by Beer et al. (2005) is of high importance for leaders to take in consideration. If not, these barriers

could prevent the organisation's ability to align innovation management processes and eventually hinder the ability to become more innovative. The six barriers are according to Beer et al., (2015): unclear strategy or/and conflicting priorities, ineffective top management, extreme leadership styles (i.e. too much top-down or to laissez-faire), poor coordination and communication across functions, business and geographic regions, insufficient existing leadership skills and inadequate investments in future leaders, and lastly, modest vertical communication.

Furthermore, above mention theory regarding leadership is highly relevant for the sake of managing innovation and are therefore identified as a relevant applicable theory for this specific study. Additionally, for innovation management to effectively be employed, the support and guidance from several innovation management concepts can be used. However, these concepts are of no usage if the leaders cannot handle the above mention statements. In the following chapters, different concepts and frameworks are being presented based on their relevance for leaders in managing innovation.

2.3 Innovation management systems

To emphasise what has been stated in the previous section regarding innovation management, the ability of an organisation to innovate can be explained as an essential corporate process. A key factor for sustainable growth, economic viability, increased well-being, corporate competitiveness, and on a larger scale the development of society (Karlsson a& Magnusson, 2019; Porter, 1980; Roberts, 1988.). Many different tools have been exploited to seize these goals (e.g. design thinking labs, idea management platforms (Karlsson & Magnusson, 2019) without providing any actual results. Karlsson & Magnusson (2019) state that the failing loop is not only due to the usage of these different tools. Instead, the authors state that it is more rooted in the actual components of innovation management. Following six factors are essential to be crucial to facilitate innovation management 1) competences 2) established approaches 3) settled directions 4) measurements and processes 5) organisational structures 6) senior management. This implies a need for a systematic approach towards innovation management, Karlsson & Magnusson (2019) states that a more systematic approach can provide leaders with a more holistic perspective in their decision-making. Nowadays, systematic approaches to innovation management can be managed through standardised innovation management systems (Karlsson & Magnusson, 2019). These systems are referred to assets of standards, which are designed to help leaders in their organisations to navigate complex processes of innovation, as well as systemise their activities and enhance the efficiency of the management (Mir, M., Casadesús, M., & Petnji, L. H., 2016). Correspondingly, Mir et al. (2016) have performed a prominent study on 347 organisations' innovation management system and concludes how successful innovation management system have positive effects on the organisation's innovation capability and business performance.

According to Mir et al. (2016), the normative context of the usages of innovation management systems in organisations is changing considerably. The usage of innovation management systems'

will continue to change because of organisations are influenced by publications such as the European Standard CEN-TS 16555-1 Innovation Management – published by the European Committee for Standardization (CEN, 2013) and the ISO-Innovation Management Standard 56002:2019, – recently published by the International Organization for Standardization (ISO 56002 standard., 2019). For this study, the authors will apply the most recent publication of ISO 56002:2019 (ISO 56002 standard., 2019) as an initial framework. The ISO 56002 standard (2019) targets to guide organisations to determine its innovation vision, strategy, objectives, policy, establishing the processes and support needed to achieve the organisation's' intended outcomes. The ISO 56002 standard (2019) guides the organisation in systematic methodology to innovation management by providing the organisation with a framework of interrelated elements.

An acknowledged standard for innovation management system can provide the organisation with a practice of how to manage innovation more productive and successful. This because an innovation management systems standard targets to provide organisations with generalisable, effective and adaptable solutions for many organisations. The ISO 56002 standard (2019) presents seven critical elementals which are crucial for establishing an effective innovation management system. Following key elements and definitions are presented in Table 1 below:

Key elements of the ISO-standard's innovation management system			
\rightarrow Organisational context	The internal and external challenges which affect the organisation's process in achieving its objectives.		
→ Leadership	Top management and leadership demonstrate commitment and respect to the innovation management system and establishes an innovation vision, strategy, policy, roles, responsibilities and authorities.		
→ Planning	Top management and leadership determine actions to manage opportunities and risk, facilitate objectives for innovation, structures and the portfolio.		
→ Support	Establish necessary support for the innovation management system, i.e. people, competencies, financing together with resources as tools, communication and intellectual property.		
→ Operation	Establish and implement innovation initiatives using adequate innovation processes. The innovation initiatives are projects and programs targeted to identify opportunities, create and validate concepts, as well as develop and deploy solutions.		
→ Performance evaluation	Continuously evaluate the performance of the innovation management system with KPIs, related to vision, strategy, policy and objectives.		
→ Improvement	The result of performance evaluation: The innovation management system is continuously improved by focusing on its most critical challenges in the context, leadership, planning, support and operations.		

Table 1 – Innovation management system based on ISO 56002 standard (2019), illustrated by authors.

Above seven key elements of the ISO 56002 standard (2019) (Table 1) are stated to be comprehensive for facilitating an innovation management system. Therefore, the ISO 56002 standard (2019) will be the basis for defining the innovation management system in this study. The authors will further apply the following definition of an innovation management system (Table 2). The definition of innovation management elements applied further in this study are presented in Table 2 below. The key elements of the innovation management system further applied in this study will include three key elements, instead of the seven key elements defined in the ISO 56002 standard's (2019). The main contribution of the author's innovation management system framework (Table 2) is the increased focus and centrality of leadership.

Accordingly, the authors of this study have defined operational activities to derive from *Stage-Gate and Innovation Funnel* (Table 2). ISO 56002 standard (2019) elements *Performance evaluation* and *Improvement* are included in the element *Measuring and evaluation* in the authors (Table 2). Lastly, ISO 56002 standard (2019) element *Support* is included in the element *Leadership* in (Table 2). The authors focus on the leadership perspective and how an innovation management system can support the leaders and organisation.

Key elements of the innovation management system – defined by the authors of this study		
\rightarrow Organisational context	The internal and external challenges affect the organisation's process in achieving its objectives. Regular scanning and analysis are necessary to identify risks and opportunities for potential value realisation.	
→ Leadership	Top management demonstrates leadership by establishing an innovation management system, including the innovation vision, strategy, policy, roles, responsibilities, authorities. Leaders establish commitment and respect in the organisational context to support the innovation management system and hence the innovation management practices. Leaders plan improvements and increasing their innovation capabilities simultaneously by establishing accurate <i>Measuring and evaluation</i> - methods. This will support the improvement of innovation management systems and innovation management practices. Moreover, leaders are responsible for designing and deliver efficiency in the operational activities, which are part of the innovation management system.	
\rightarrow Measuring and evualuation	The ISO Standard (56002:2019) key elements <i>performance evaluation</i> and <i>improvement</i> are combined to evaluate performance continuously. Leadership are able to plan and improve the innovation management system accordingly continuously.	

Table 2 – Innovation management system designed by authors, inspired by ISO 56002 standard (2019).

2.3.1 Organisational context

For leaders in organisations to achieve desired outcomes in their use of an innovation management system, there is a need to establish an understanding of the organisation and its context. ISO 56002 standard (2019) presents the *context of the organisation*, which is the first of the seven key elements in supporting organisations to evaluate itself and its context. The *context of the organisation* includes that the organisations need to regularly determine external and internal issues that are relevant in their process to achieve the desired outcomes, as well as determine its effect on the ability to achieve these outcomes. In other words, the organisation needs to define various elements that influence the organisation's company culture, goals and objectives, the flow of processes and information, the complexity of products, markets, size of the organisation, and

customers. There is also a need to regularly scan and analyse the business context to detect potential risks and opportunities for potential value realisation. (ISO 56002 standard., 2019)

To create a better understanding of the organisational context, one needs to understand the elements of the organisational context that comprise the shape of behaviour and facilitate or hinder management processes (Rice, 2005; Porter and McGloghlin, 2006; Goodman and Haisley, 2007). Goodman and Heisley (2007) are clarifying the meaning of organisational context by presenting four features that include (1) the organisation's task and technology infrastructure, (2) the structure of the organisation, in terms of authority, communication, decision-making, reward-systems, (3) the social infrastructure, which includes norms, culture, and informal networks; and (4) the unique qualities of the workforce in terms of skills, distribution of knowledge, and abilities. According to Goodman and Haisley (2007) are these factors existing independently of any individual, they have relatively stable properties, and they shape and affect individual behaviour.

The ISO 56002 standard (2019) and theory, in general, are commonly in agreement about within the context of the organisation is that the organisation should promote a culture that supports innovation. Since innovation performs by coexistence and operation-oriented mindsets and behaviours are organisational climate promoting openness, curiosity, experimentation, creativity, of high importance to succeed with innovation (Nystrom et al., 2002). According to Millman and Wilson (1999), leaders' commitment to innovation activities is a cornerstone to create a culture that supports innovation.

Researchers such as Homburg, Workman Jr. & Jensen (2002) and Brady (2004) emphasises the importance of enabling collaboration and collaborative culture. Further, the researchers state that organisations should establish a management approach for both external and internal collaboration with a target to facilitate sharing and access to competences, knowledge and other resources. According to Brady (2004) can such collaboration support the identification of customer needs and rapid challenges. To promote a collaborative culture, the organisation should consider the importance of trust-building between involved parties as well as the respect and openness. Wilson and Woodburn (2014) also state the importance of including the collaboration in the innovation strategy, objectives and existing capabilities, and the further development of competences in the organisation.

2.4 Innovation excellence

In a further discussion regarding the increasing complexity, more considerable uncertainty and faster interactions among producers and consumers, many scholars state that the essential criterion of customer choice is no longer a matter of quality (Dervitiotis, 2008; Hagel, 2007). To further present this chapter of innovation excellence, it is, according to Dervitiotis (2010) necessary to discuss the meaning of quality and innovation. Quality, referred to as the prevailing interpretation

of fitness for use, which Adams, Bessant & Phelps (2006) refers to as the organisation's current capacity to generate value for stakeholders with already existing products and business models. Regarding innovation, Dervitiotis (2010) distinguish between innovation as the organisation's inherent capability to generate new value propositions for stakeholders and point out that this is mainly managed in rapidly changing times where the value provided by existing offerings are being less attractive by customers. Both of them are directed towards generating value that satisfies individual human and/or social needs, where the quality applies to the present time, and innovation concerns the future (Dervitiotis, 2010).

The global market is becoming more and more transparent, the term quality, usually presented in forms of ISO-type certifications, has only become a ticket for firms to enter a competitive environment (Adams et al., 2006). Dervitsiotis (2010) expresses that the focus has shifted from offering quality to generating value to customers. Generating value is the preferred outcome of innovation, and firms directing more focus towards innovation will enhance the potential to provide a new cutting edge for differentiation to improve their competitiveness. The success of generating innovation that creates value for customers requires innovation management. However, it is poorly understood by managers that the process of innovation works and commonly seen as a creativity-based random process rather than a systematic process (Dervitsiotis, 2010). Findings from several surveys executed by consultancy companies reveal that significant improvements to the innovation process can only be made by institutionalising innovation management and by making it a core process in the organisations. The institutionalisation of quality management and finance management in organisations during the '70s is an example of good practice how innovation can be institutionalised (Boston Consulting Group, 2008, 2009; Drucker, 1985; McKinsey Quarterly, 2008, 2009). Although managers have accepted the importance of innovation, there is a general dissatisfaction with the results that are realised from investments in innovation. Dervitsiotis (2010) are presenting a framework for the assessment of an organisation's innovation excellence. In other words, a systematic assessment of an organisation's valuegenerating capability of its innovation management.

2.4.1 The innovation excellence framework

Dervitiotis (2010) describes that necessary it is to manage the innovation process as a system consisting of useful performance measurement metrics, expressed to help managers to understand better and improve the firms' innovation performance. According to Adams et al. (2006) and Dervitsiotis (2010), the achievement of a high level of innovation capability is one necessary condition in the pursuit of best practice innovation management, referred to as innovation excellence.

Many organisations have developed impressive innovations in the past. However, many of them have failed in their attempt to take them to the market. In line with the definition of successful

innovation applied in this study are Adams et al. (2006) and Dervitsiotis (2010) arguing that innovation is only regarded as successful if it can be taken to the market and generate money. Based on this reason Dervitsiotis (2010) states that to obtain innovation excellence, an organisation needs to possess a high level of innovation capability to create a sustained stream of successful innovation, as well as new streams of cash revenues. To further explain how Dervitsiotis (2010) defines innovation excellence the author presents in line with Adams et al. (2006) and several annual survey findings (Boston Consulting Group, 2008, 2009; McKinsey Quarterly, 2008, 2009) the necessary condition for establishing innovation excellence is:

Innovation excellence = Innovation capabilities + Innovation results

In order to maintain innovation excellence, innovation capability referred to as the measure of the effectiveness of an innovation management system, must be well designed, well-integrated and well-coordinated to be effective. According to Adams et al. (2006), the innovation capability is a function of six key innovation system variables, namely; organisational culture, leadership for innovation, resources for innovation, customer participation, employee participation, supplier participation. Dervitiotis (2010) presents eight innovation enablers that determine an organisations innovation capability. These eight enablers will further be referred to as innovation capabilities. The condition is also dependent on the results of the total innovation effort, referred to as innovation projects for a firm's key stakeholders. Thus, the conditions show the importance of combining scores of innovation capabilities and innovation results as dependent on achieving innovation excellence. Dervitiotis (2010) defines innovation excellence as the overall measure of innovation achievement from the combined assessment of both a firm's capability and results. The eight innovation capabilities and the four innovation results are summarised in Table 3.

Key elements of the innovation excellence framework			
→ Innovation capabilities	→ Leadership	Leadership capabilities in designing and establishing the vision, shared values, incentives for key stakeholders.	
	→ Organisational culture	Engage creative talents, foster creative an environment and manage ideas effectively. Establish risk awareness and trust in accepting experiments with new ideas, accept failure provided by educational- and ethnical diversity and willingness to share and cooperate.	
	ightarrow Resources and partnerships	Internal resources are available for competence. External partnerships can complement, and strengthen organisations skills, knowledge or uniqueness.	
	\rightarrow Innovation strategy	Identifies and acts upon new opportunities. Reflects on the portfolio of innovation projects, aiming to balance risks and benefits from short-term and long-term innovation investments.	
	\rightarrow Employee participation	Valuable input for ideas and constant improvement supporting the innovation strategy.	
	\rightarrow Customer participation	Continuously generate feedback on the satisfaction of performance and products.	
	→ Supplier participation	Exploit expertise, competencies and support from partners in the development of new profitable ideas and products.	
	\rightarrow Innovation process effectiveness	Utilises all the above inputs to select the best ideas for the development of new value-adding products, effectiveness in time to market, return investments in innovation and become new streams of revenues and profits.	
→ Innovation results	\rightarrow Customer impacts	Impact on customers as customer's satisfaction-level from products, along with ensuring loyalty.	
	\rightarrow Employee impacts	Impact on employees' level of satisfaction, loyalty and cooperation within the organisation.	
	→ Organisation impacts	Impact on levels of trust, risk awareness, degree of cooperation, functionality and effectiveness of networks to facilitate the exchange of valuable information and tacit knowledge.	
	\rightarrow Overall performance	Impact of competitiveness, economic-, market- and sustainability performance.	

Table 3 – Innovation excellence defined by Dervitiotis (2010), illustrated by authors.

Further, Adams et al. (2006) claim how organisations face two fundamental issues in innovation improvement, related to the distinction between doing *the right kind of innovation* and *doing the right kind of innovation right*. The first is related to effectiveness, in terms of effectively selecting

choices between incremental innovation and radical innovations. Whereas the latter includes optimisation of the innovation operation process (e.g. idea generation, project selection), in other words, managing the innovation process efficiently. Adams et al. (2006) following Dervitiotis (2010), states how there are currently too many variations of focus on innovation among organisations. Thus, Dervitiotis (2010) states how organisations ability to develop a systematic and reliable view of innovation management are being a difficulty due to the variation in approach innovation. Accordingly, Dervitioits (2010) following Adams et al. (2006), presents the aggregated framework of innovation excellence (Figure 2). The framework target to first identify key system variables - the innovation enablers related to the innovation process, which determine the firm's innovation capabilities. Secondly, it identifies the critical innovation results, which captures the realised benefits for the stakeholders. Thirdly, the framework aims to determine how innovation capabilities and innovation results are connected and related. The fourth step is to develop metrics for each variable and determine their importance and contribution. The fifth step is to use the integrated framework for the innovation system, this to come to an overall measure of the organisations' innovation achievement by adding the evaluation of both innovation capabilities and innovation results. In the last step, management can use this assessment to identify what actions should be prioritised and what areas need to be improved, both on short- and long term.

The illustration of Dervitiotis' (2010) integrated framework (Figure 2) captures how the combination of the evaluated scores for the firm's innovation capability, with the scores related to the actual innovation results realised, provides an overall measure of innovation achievement. This model should be used in the pursuit of innovation excellence (Dervitiotis, 2010; Adams et al., 2006).

Additionally, when leaders have established and evaluated the different innovation capabilities, as well as the actual results from the organisation's innovation project portfolio, the combining scores from both sides, shall provide an overall measure of innovation achievement towards innovation excellence (Dervitsiotis, 2010). Leaders can develop guiding questions to ask the organisation, referred to as innovation capability profiles and innovation results profiles (Dervitsiotis, 2010), which should be used to identify strengths and weaknesses of the innovation's system and provide the leaders with a score for each key element in Table 3. Further, Kanji (2002) states that the usage of more advanced measurement techniques can enable presenting questions in the form of innovation metrics. In return, such metrics can be evaluated to explore existing causal relationships. Leaders can learn from the results that occur from each evaluation period, and so forth examine possible paths to improve the innovation capability further. The expressed process will enable leaders to use a wide-angle lens for exploring emerging opportunities and improvements. Chessbrough (2006) states in line with Dervitsiotis (2010), how it may influence the organisation to, e.g. adapt to an open innovation model based on corporations with external parties.

Furthermore, Hamel (2007) and Kim & Mauborne (2005) express how more potent forms of innovation can evolve from such evaluating and measuring approach, where it may involve new business models regarding more robust and flexible structures of organisations. This can enable new leadership styles to emerge, such as a leadership that engage more individuals within the firm but also externally. Hamel (2007) also mention that new project selection criteria can emerge, which makes the leadership free to follow more novel and competitive strategies towards innovation.

Dervitsiotis (2010) states how the effectiveness of this innovative system is dependent on three essential requirements that need to be ensured and most importantly, balanced. To ensure this, leaders of organisations must always maintain a balance between (1) demand for innovations and supply of new good ideas; (2) a balance in taking risks between incremental and radical innovations; and (3) a balance in using internal and external resources.

Following Dervitiotis (2010), Bassiti & Ajhoun (2016) state that in order for organisations to master the process of innovation, they need to be able to identify factors that hinder and support the achievement of innovations in their pursuit of innovation excellence. However, Bassiti & Ajhoun (2016, p.1) mentioned; "what is not measurable cannot be neither managed nor improved.".



Figure 2 – The aggregated framework for assessing a firm's innovation excellence, designed by Dervitsiotis (2010) illustrated by authors.

Consequently, as previously done in section 2.4, the authors of this study summarized the ISO 56002 standard (2019) innovation management system and focused on essential factors considered for leadership (Table 2.). Accordingly, the same procedure has been applied in this section, where the innovation excellence framework (Table 3 and Figure 2) have been dissembled in Table 4, based on each factor's relevance to innovation management from a leadership perspective. The innovation management framework, illustrated by the authors of this study and presented in Table 4, will further be applied throughout this study.

Key elements of the innovation excellence framework – defined by the authors of this study			
→ Innovation capabilities	→ Leadership	Leadership is central for enabling the development and establishment of innovation capabilities. The innovation capabilities are necessary for design and reach the innovation results.	
	\rightarrow Organisational culture	Engage creative talents, foster a creative environment, managing ideas effectively. Establish risk awareness and trust in accepting experiments with new ideas, accept failure provided by educational- and ethnical diversity together with encouraging a willingness to share and cooperate.	
	\rightarrow Innovation strategy	Identifies and acts efficiently upon new opportunities. Reflects on the portfolio of innovation projects, aiming balance risks and benefits from short-term and long-ter innovation investments. Directed to foster collaboration hence shorten gaps between departments of an organisa	
	\rightarrow Innovation process effectiveness	Utilises all innovation capabilities to select the best ideas for the development of new value-adding products, effectiveness in time to market, return investments in innovation and become new streams of revenues and profits. The innovation capabilities are efficient in reaching the innovation results, and leaders set the innovation results with a high level of innovation capabilities.	
→ Innovation results	→ Overall performance	Level of impact from the organisation's innovation process on customers, employees and the organisation. Also, the innovation results measure the organisations' competitiveness, economic-, market-, and sustainability performance.	

Table 4 – Innovation excellence designed by authors, inspired by Dervitiotis (2010).

2.4.2 Measuring and evaluating innovation performance

Preez & Louw (2008) state that there are common factors among successful innovators, regarding the process of managing innovation with recurring measurements of every critical factor. However, Morris (2011), one needs to be careful when measuring innovation. If the wrong things are measured at the wrong time using the wrong mechanisms, it can undermine the spirit of creativity, discovery and learning that the innovation process requires. Also, the process inbetween the inputs (e.g. spend and speed to market) and outputs (e.g. numbers of new products) are commonly ignored in measuring innovation (Adams et al., 2006). Therefore, in line with Bassiti & Ajhoun (2016), is it critical for managers to have a measurement model that gives a solid ground for monitoring and measuring innovation performance. Also, to detect faults and perform repairs help the organisation to develop its capacity to innovate more systematically and successfully.

Bassiti & Ajhoun (2016) present three different models that should be applied in a tri-axial conceptualisation, referred to as the *generic innovation management framework*. The purpose is to overcome the gap of innovation as a complex and multidimensional phenomenon. The first one is called the *Innovation Granularity Scales, which* helps Organisations to adopt to a granular view of innovation in order to implement innovation performance measurements successfully. If it is established it will allow the actors of innovation to align activities and decisions regards to the conceptual factors (e.g. long-term goals), actors profiles (e.g. interest, behaviours, and areas of expertise), and the knowledge capabilities (e.g. required competencies) (Bassiti & Ajhoun., 2016).

The second model referred by Bassiti & Ajhoun (2016) is called *Innovation Capability Stages* and gives a perspective over the process by presenting six capability stages that representing the key performance milestones that can be achieved by innovation actors. The six capability stages are 1) generation stage, 2) interlinking stage, 3) improvement stage, 4) validation stage, 5) implementation stage, 6) exploitation stage. These stages aim to allow measurement of the minimum availability of required capabilities in the stages of the innovation lifecycle (Bassiti & Ajhoun., 2016).

The third model referred by Bassiti & Ajhoun (2016), is called the *Innovation Maturity Levels* and aims to provide a maturity perspective. The focus is on the ability to present improvement across the entire innovation journey, by helping organisations to assess their innovation capabilities and thereby develop a roadmap that enables them to prioritise and eventually sequence them. The different innovation maturity levels that the model presents are ranging from one to five and starts with awareness level, defined level, linked level managed level and ends with sustained level. The sustained level is defined as the highest maturity level were self-responsibility is in place, innovation actors have common goals and broad authority, high trust and community spirit are holding the actors together, a collaborative and creative culture is in place. According to Bassiti & Ajhoun (2016) is this the beginning of a successful innovation networked journey.

While these three models are being used together, they provide opportunities for innovation actors to measure and improve their innovation activities performance (Bassiti & Ajhoun, 2016). Further, Bassiti & Ajhoun (2016) states that this method can be used to effectuate innovation management and assessment efforts in organisations. It also enables a structured approach to teaching innovation as well as a formal base for innovation learning processes.

2.5 Customer-centric approach

Organisations that have access and the ability to transfer different types of information can reduce uncertainties involved in innovation projects (Cassiman & Veuglers, 2006). According to Von Hippel (1998) can this information can be divided into two groups; where the first is *information on the customer*, and the second is *market needs* and *information on (technological) solution possibilities*. To upgrade the innovation performance, Kastelli & Takanikas (2004) state how

successful innovation requires a combination of these two. Further, in their study of information exchange in new product development, they state that internal capabilities and openness towards knowledge sharing are both highly important for increasing an organisation's innovative performance. Many scholars state that the innovation process can thus be seen as a continuous interaction between external actors and internal actors (Allen, 1993; Berthon, Pitt, McCarthy & Kates, 2007; Chesbrough, 2003; Brown & Eisenhardt 1995). The external information from different sources regarding the need and solution needs to be transferred along all stages of the innovation process, Piller, Ihl & Vossen (2011) state that one of the primary external sources of information for innovation is the customer itself.

What determines an organisation's competitiveness today are its ability to manage and understand the "value" from the customers' point of view, instead of the perspective of the actual provider. Piller, Reichwald & Tseng (2006) present the idea of a customer-centric enterprise where the focus of all operations in the organisation should be directed towards serving customers and delivering unique value by considering the customers as individuals. Further, Piller et al. (2011) refer to customer-centricity in a way where a committed organisation should meet all needs of relevant customers. Customer-centricity can be translated into different levels in the organisation. At the strategic level, customer-centricity should be seen as the orientation and mindset of the organisation to be open and sharing their interdependencies and values with their customers. At the tactical level, Piller et al. (2011) discuss that instead of focusing on the convenience of operations, organisations need to align their activities and processes with their customers' convenience. At the operational level, Pine (1993) states that organisations have implemented mass customisation and personalisation to reach customer-centricity. Hence, customer-centricity can be defined in means of customers driving the business forward, instead of influencing customers to buy/use a product/service as a way of creating and stabilising customer demand. Organisations embracing a customer-centric approach are adjusting their capabilities, including product designs, production, and supply chains to the unique demand of each customer.

2.5.1 Customer-centricity and innovation management

Access to customer information is, as mentioned in 2.4 essential and a fundamental requirement for any innovation to be successful. For this thesis, an explanation of how customer-centricity can be applied to innovation management is seen by the authors of this thesis as highly crucial due to how it can effectuate the process of realising innovation.

Piller et al. (2011) indicate in their study that customers can take on different roles in the innovation process, e.g. customers providing information regarding future trends and solution technologies, and customers providing an evaluation of innovative concepts and participating in refinements of prototypes. Piller et al. (2011) are presenting a framework that structures these different roles of customers and can be used for organisations innovation management work. The model is an

extension of the original framework by Dahan & Hauser (2002) and presents three different modes of using and generating customer information in new product development.

Mode 1: Listen

In order to identify customer needs, organisations should use existing customer information produced from diverse input channels, e.g. feedback from salespeople, analysed past-sales data, internet log files, or third parties research reports (Dahan and Hauser, 2002). Researchers also point out the vital input of reviews of the performance of existing products and services (Pillar et al., 2011). This should be from both an internal and external (competitors) perspective. In this mode other approaches can be applied such as studying customers by observation Kozinets 1998), emphatic design (Leonard et al., 1997), Quality Function Deployment (Akao, 1990) which can be used to integrate data from customers in a design methodology.

Mode 2: Ask

A more "hands-on" approach to *mode one* mention above is to ask the customer for inputs regarding the innovation process. This can be managed by using surveys, qualitative interviews, and focus groups. This should be applied in the early stages of the innovation process. Ulwick (2002) presents a proven method regarding this, referred to as "*outcome-driven innovation*", which combines surveys and evaluation methods. Furthermore, this can be used when the innovation project has been developed further. According to Dahan & Hauser (2002) can de organisation present different solutions and concepts for customers and by letting them react and give feedback on proposed solutions.

Mode 3: Build

Building on the definition of customer-centricity, mode three is referred to as an active integration of the participation of customers in the innovation process. The previous modes above are isolating the customers from the organisation, mode three is instead involving the customer in the design or/and development of future innovation (Piller et al., 2011). Also referred to and seen as the genus of *customer co-creation* and commonly seen as *open innovation* with the customer, where the organisation is empowering customers to design and develop solutions by themselves. They can also implement methodologies to transfer an innovative solution that the customer effectively possesses into the organisation. Kjellberg, Tseng & Lu (2003) refer to this co-creation as a product development process where customers are actively involved in the design of new offerings. Thus, it can be seen as an active, creative, and social process, which is highly based on what is emphasised in this thesis regarding the collaboration between producers and customers (Piller & Ihl., 2009).

Therfore, customer-centricity constitutes a vital part of effective innovation management practices. Additionally, the next chapter presents a holistic framework for innovation management, where customer-centricity fills a role of equal importance.

2.6 Conceptual model

The conceptual model (Figure 3) is designed to examine effective innovation management practices from a leadership perspective within an IT-consultancy firm. The conceptual model captures how leadership constitutes an essential part of the potential success of an organisation's innovation management. Innovative ideas heritage from the minds of employees, but if the ideas are not supported or act upon by the leadership, they will not be allowed to proceed in any processes to become realised, thus cannot be called innovations. Therefore, leaderships' commitment, involvement and understanding of innovation are fundamentals for an organisation's innovation management.

The conceptual model (Figure 3) further explains that leadership can establish and use two frameworks and two concepts to manage innovation. The framework Innovation Excellence, presented by Dervitiotis (2010), supported by Adams et al. (2006), captures how organisations can leverage their innovation management systems by ensuring different innovation capabilities before starting the development of innovation. This contributes to more specific competencies applied for specific areas, thus avoiding waste of resources. Innovation excellence further demonstrates that it is not enough to only focus on the innovation process to be able to improve. Therefore, innovation results should be evaluated and act upon after the innovation has been realised, thus enables identification of areas of improvement (Dervitioitis, 2010). The conceptual model further captures that an innovation management system can be used as an effective framework for leaders to act after. The innovation management system enables a systematic approach towards managing innovation, as well as strategic guidance for the organisation (Karlson & Magnusson, 2019; ISO 56002 standard., 2019).

Consequently, the conceptual model captures the importance of continuously measuring and evaluating the innovation process and thus constitutes an essential activity for leadership to ensure value creation throughout the innovation process. The last of the four presented boxes in Figure 3 is the concept customer-centricity. The conceptual model shows that customer-centricity constitutes a vital approach for leadership to ensure customer interaction and feedback possibility. The arrow from customer-centricity to innovation management systems captures how customer-

centricity should be applied throughout the innovation process to sustain interactions with the customer and keep the focus on the intended value while developing the innovation.



Figure 3 – Conceptual model of the theoretical framework, designed by the authors.

3. Methodology

This section describes the methodology behind the research conducted in this thesis. Starting with the chosen research strategy, followed by the research design, including a pre-study and case study. Further presented is the primary data collection, including semi-structured interviews and observations. Followed by secondary data collection and the applied data analysis process. Lastly, a demonstration of the quality level of this qualitative research is presented.

3.1 Research strategy

To explore the topic of this study the authors have chosen to apply a single qualitative case study due to its nature of being a good fit to explore complex phenomena in their real setting (Yin, 2018). The choice of a qualitative research strategy is based on a qualitative research strategy's ability to make sense of complex situations and social processes (Bell, Bryman & Harley 2011). For the sake of the purpose and to answer the presented research questions, the author's needed to understand the different phenomena profoundly and in detail. According to Bell et al. (2011), this is done by, e.g. learning from participants about their experiences, such as beliefs, motivations, and opinions. A qualitative research strategy, as in line with Bell et al. (2011) reasoning, are commonly described as concerned with the generation of theories rather than the testing of theories. Thus, a qualitative strategy is appropriate for the proposed study as the author's aim to explore good innovation management practices from a leadership-perspective, where existing theories, in the same manner, are few due to a limited amount of research on the subject from a leadership perspective. According to Ying (2018), is there usually problems with case studies, such as access to locations and the organisation. Fortunately, the authors was temporarily employed for their master thesis project and therefore authorised to get access to many of the internal systems within the organisation. This has facilitated access to people. Also, being part of Cybercom have the authors the possibility to work from their office and attending meetings, seminars, and other events. Thus, being close to the case company has enabled to both do observations and interviews. The authors have been assigned a supervisor which have supported the authors to get in contact with relevant leaders and access to continues feedback and questions.

3.2 Research design

An abductive approach has been applied for this qualitative study as its iterative nature of usages and applicability allows for making both logical inferences and develop existing theoretical frameworks, as opposed to creating new theories (Dubois & Gadde 2014). The abductive approach was further considered valid due to the non-linear nature of case study research, which allowed the authors to move between theory and empirical observations (Dubois & Gadde, 2014). The authors employed 6 phases to execute the work of the study. As the choice of an abductive approach enabled to have an iterative process, the first phase began with a pre-study in order to explore and identify areas of challenges and opportunities of innovation management. Also, the identification of potential research streams to apply to the empirical context of innovation management was simultaneously made with the pre-study. The literature review revealed several models for good innovation management practices.

Furthermore, the generation of the purpose constituted the second phase as an iterative outcome of the first phase. In the third phase, an extensive literature review was executed in order to screen and source out a solid ground for a theoretical framework concerning the purpose. During this stage, the authors went on a field-study to Silicon Valley, where two additional pre-study interviews were conducted. The findings from the interviews and the extensive literature review emphasised the leadership perspective on innovation management, which came to shape the purpose of the study and outlined the research questions. In the fourth phase, the selection of interview respondents was made, and interviews were conducted. An interview guide was built based on early findings from the pre-study, including the field study, and relevant theories from the theoretical framework. During the data collection process, the authors of this study extended the literature on innovation management and adopted a leadership perspective in order to devise a theoretical framework. In the fifth phase, the acquired data was analysed and evaluated. Lastly, the research questions were answered, and recommendations based on the conclusion was given to Cybercom.

Because of this iterative process and the pervading interplay between empirical data and theory, the research approach in this study can be situated as abductive research (Bell et al., 2019; Dubois & Gadde, 2014). Furthermore, being part of the organisation allowed the authors to work side by side with employees of both the Innovation Zone and the Business Advisory department. This enabled the authors to be part of their daily work, where they attended several meetings, seminars, and events. Observations and interactions were, therefore, possible daily and covered in the four first phases.

Phase 1	Phase 2	Phase 3	Phase 4	Phase 5	Phase 6
Pre-study	Research purpose	Research question	Data collection	Data analysis	Conclusion
 Explore and identify challenges and opportunities Literature review Conducting interviews 	 Defining scope Constitute purpose of the research 	 Field study Extensive theoretical framework Designing research question 	 Designing interview guide Primary data interviews 	• Analyse the data (primary- and secondary data)	 Answering the research question Further recommendations to Cybercom

Table 5 – An overview of the study's methodology-process, designed by authors.

3.2.2 Case study

This study has applied a single case study design together with a qualitative approach. This because the case study design should be considered when the focus of the study is to answer questions regarding "how" and "why" and where the boundaries are not evident between the context and the phenomenon (Yin, 2018). The study's purpose is to explore effective innovation management practices from a leader-perspective and analyse how leaders in an IT-consultancy firm practise innovation management. Hence, the answers to "why" and "how" are vital to create an understanding. Consequently, the initial pre-study revealed how the scope of this study was of high relevance but indicated unclear boundaries between the context and the phenomenon. Thus, that gap in existing theory validated the choice of a single case study and as Crabtree & Miller (1999) and Yin (2018) states, is it advantageous to use such approach since it allows for close collaboration between the researchers and the participants. Thus, it allowed the participants to tell their stories and enabled them to describe their views of reality, which enabled the authors of this study to understand the actions taken by the participants better.

Previous research has not yet fully explored this specific context of exploring effective innovation management practices from a leader-perspective in the IT-consulting industry, the determination of the type of case-study is exploratory. In line with Yin (2018), exploratory case studies are used when one seeks to explore situations in which the intervention being evaluated has no clear single set of outcomes. To strengthen the choice of an exploratory case study, significant indications of Cybercom never being investigating their innovation management practices from a leadership perspective, which clarifies the choice of seeing this study as exploratory.

Bell et al. (2019) discuss, in addition to identifying the specific "type" of the case, researchers must consider whether it is prudent to conduct a single case study or not. The case might be that a better understanding of the phenomena is gained by conducting a multiple case study, where the researcher allows exploration of differences within and between cases. Thus, it enables to replicate findings across cases (Yin, 2018). Due to the limit of time for this study, the authors have chosen to only focus on Cybercom as an organisation internally. Therefore, the approach of a single case study is applied.

3.2.1 Pre-study

A qualitative pre-study initiated the study and was utilised to gain a better understanding of Cybercom as an organisation, as well as their current work on innovation management. The prestudy was ideal for clarifying what challenges Cybercom has regarding its innovation management process, which was used as an outline for this research. The pre-study included two unstructured interviews with the Head of Business Advisory and one with the innovation leader who belongs to the business advisory department. Further, observations were continuously conducted during the
pre-study phase, where the authors attended global meetings with innovation leaders, seminars, workshops, and daily work situations.

One part of the pre-study was a field trip to Silicon Valley in the United States of America. It was initiated with the purpose to gain inspiration and global insights to develop a broader understanding in the process to define the scope for Cybercom. The location of Silicon Valley was chosen based on its high reputation and track record of being a world-leading start-up cluster where many of today's world-leading technology firms' heritages. Two interviews were scheduled before the authors travelled, One interview with Sven Beiker, a professor in Business Management at Stanford University and CEO of Silicon Valley Automotive Mobility, and one interview with Gabriel Granström, at Nordic Innovation House in Silicon Valley. In discussion with the authors and Sven Beiker, it came clear that leadership and commercialisation of innovation are two critical factors for managing innovation effectively. The meeting with Gabriel Granström generated clarifications regarding the importance of organisation culture and networking as a means of facilitating fruitful innovation management. After conducting these meetings, the leadership perspective was acknowledged by exploring effective innovation management practises. Besides the interviews, the authors also visited Googleplex and Facebook in Palo Alto. The visits were initially planned with the purpose to have the opportunity to meet and discuss with employees to gather insights regarding their daylily work with innovation. Due to the circumstances regarding Covid-19 pandemic, the authors were not allowed to get in personal contact with any employees. Still, the authors had the opportunity to visit the areas and get a feeling of the innovative environment of being part of such innovative organisations, which gave inspiration and insights on how the business of tomorrow can be designed.

3.3 Research method

Research methods refer to suitable techniques for collecting data (Bell et al., 2019; Yin, 2018) The most used methods in qualitative research are interviews and observations, as mentioned earlier, these have been applied for this thesis.

3.3.1 Primary data collection

To explore good innovation management practices from a leadership-perspective and be able to analyse how leaders practise the innovation management process. The primary data collection was based on ten semi-structured interviews within Cybercom. The authors performed this study from a leadership-perspective and the semi-structured interviews were conducted with employees within the organisation where their current role included some level of decision-making. The authors defined this as a leadership-role throughout the research. The theory suggests that the business perspective as being of high importance for successful innovation, three of the total interviews were held with leaders belonging to the Business Advisory department. The choice of semi-structured interviews was mainly based on its approach to simplifying the action of being coherent in the process, also to make it easier to gather comparable data of specific themes. According to Bell et al. (2019), semi-structured interviews provide flexibility and a sufficient level of the structure where comparisons easily can be made. This also gave the authors incentives for the usage of semi-structured interviews in the research. The flexibility given to the respondent gave a great deal of leeway in their replies and thus opened for discussions regarding what they found worth to discuss. The choice of semi-structured interviews allowed the authors to have a list of questions on specific topics that were found valuable and relevant for the research, referred to as an interview guide (Bell et al., 2019). The interview guide was prepared in advance based on findings from the pre-study phase and relevant theory (Yin, 2018; Bell et al., 2019). The interview guide was created with a certain amount of order on the topic of innovation management to make the questions flow reasonably well during the interview (Bell et al., 2019). The questions were formulated in a way that persons with no prior knowledge within the area of Innovation management would still be able to relate the topic to their daily work and answer to some extent. Although, the questioning and the use of language was adjusted to be comprehensible and relevant for the specific respondent, where leading questions where avoided (Bell et al., 2019).

3.3.1.1 Selection of interviewees

The authors were temporally employed at the organisation for the study. They possessed full access to internal contact networks which enabled to gain in-depth knowledge of the organisation efficiently. The selection of interviewees was mainly based on opportunistic sampling as a start. All respondents were leaders from Cybercom, with decision-making mandate to influence innovation management in the organisation. When the first interviews were conducted, a more snowball-sampling emerged where the authors asked the interviewees for suggestions on other potential managers to interview (Bell et al., 2019). The authors got in contact with the persons who had a genuine interest in and worked close to innovation management, which created more active and passionate discussions around the questions. The sampling of respondents was focused on employees in a decision-making role, referred to as a leader in this study. This study is delimited to explore effective innovation management practices by exploring leaders with a strong relation to managing innovation in their role. Hence, the majority of the respondents come from the Innovation Zone and the Business Advisory departments.

3.3.1.2 Conducting the interviews

The authors intended to conduct the interviews face-to-face at both the local site in Gothenburg but also travelling to other sites in Sweden. This is a commonly preferred approach since it increases personal engagement, as well as enhances the opportunity and possibility to get a more nuanced discussion and gain a deeper understanding (Bell et al., 2019). Due to the current situation at this time, the worldwide crisis of the Covid-19 pandemic resulted in quarantine for all Cybercom employees. The possibility of face-to-face interviews was precluded. The interviews were therefore conducted by virtual video streamed meetings in Microsoft Teams, which to some extent facilitated observations of the interviewees.

The interviewees were contacted by phone to schedule an appropriate date and time for the interview. The authors chose to use the phone rather than email for scheduling the interview, since it enabled short presentations of the authors and gave a picture of the authors as being committed and professional in their approach. After the call, a Microsoft Teams invitation was sent in Google calendar with the author's private accounts to assure and confirm the scheduled date and time. The interview guide (see Appendix 1) was attached in the invitation to give the interviewees reasonable time to familiarise themselves with the questions and thus enable more detailed answers.

Both authors performed the ten interviews jointly, to form the basis for the empirical findings. Bell et al. (2019) present advantages with multiple interviewers, partly the possibility of having a "passive" interviewer that can take extensive notes as well as intervene at any point if further explanation is required. Also, multiple interviewers can contribute to the interview becoming more of a discussion rather than an exchange, and so forth contribute to a more informal atmosphere. As the authors aimed to reach this atmosphere where more precise and informative answers could be gained, both were attending the interview. One of the authors was in charge of asking the questions and leading the interview, while the other was passive and took notes. The interviews took approximately one and a half-hour to two hours each and all of them were recorded by sound. As Yin (2018) states, an interview should only be recorded if the interviews were taken in a quiet place, where no risk of interruption was possible as it was considered as a suitable place for an interview (Bell et al., 2019).

The ten interviews performed are summarised in Table 6 below. The categories are i) pseudonyms ii) Interview date iii) length. The first category has provided the respondents with pseudonyms to respect the respondents' request for anonymity. This because a single-case study performs this study, and respondents risked being identified. Hence, ensuring the respondents' anonymity, the authors target to study a case more similar to reality.

The three leadership-levels have been identified to contrast differences and similarities across the leadership-levels. The "Leader" is the leaders closest to operational activates with a responsibility of one or more employees. The "Middle Leader" is a leader responsible for one or more leaders. The "Top Leader" is responsible for one or more Middle Leaders and responsible for a department or a strategic initiative. Hence, the leaders will be followingly referred to their pseudonyms', based on the interview is performed and the leadership-level. The interviews were performed in the period 25th of March and 6th of April 2020. The interview length represents the time of when the formal interview started. All interviews were introduced with an introductory presentation of the authors, the study's design, the applied theoretical frameworks and concepts and definitions which are not represented in the "Interview length" in Table 6. Hence, the full interviews were between 1,5hr – 2hr but the interview lengths below represent the formal interview. All respondents provided the authors with permissions to record the interview.

Overview of interviews							
Pseudonyms	Interview date	Lengths of interviews					
Leader 1	2020-03-25	59 min					
Leader 2	2020-03-26	108 min					
Leader 3	2020-03-31	65 min					
Leader 4	2020-04-03	130 min					
Leader 5	2020-04-03	70 min					
Middle Leader 1	2020-03-26	66 min					
Middle Leader 2	2020-03-26	78 min					
Middle Leader 3	2020-04-02	42 min					
Top Leader 1	2020-04-01	99 min					
Top Leader 2	2020-04-06	72 min					

Table 6 – Overview of interviews, designed by authors.

3.3.2 Secondary data collection

The secondary data collection was initially initiated to search for relevant information regarding the topic of innovation management. The search was done in the early phases of the study to form a broad perspective of the topic and supported the authors in developing the purpose and research question. The secondary data collection was mainly executed by searching on keywords on the web (e.g. innovation management in IT-consultancy firms, innovation management systems, managing innovation in IT-industry). The author's target was to familiarise themselves with the latest updates within the field of innovation management. The target was also to identify opportunities and challenges within the field, where literature started to be conducted on the subject, aimed to build a theoretical framework. The authors conducted an extensive literature review in phase two (Table 5) where they complemented out the current theoretical framework with literature relevant to what was identified during the field trip to San Francisco and Silicon Valley. The conduction of literature was done following how Bell et al. (2019) refers to a systematic approach. However, the approach was modified to some extent, where the authors performed a systematic approach in the way of going through relevant material published in specific databases. The authors complemented the theory for this study after the field study, also

after the interviews were conducted, it strengthens the choice of the chosen application of abductive research design. The databases used for conducting relevant theory were Business Source Premier, Google Scholar, and "Supersearch" from the Gothenburg University Library.

3.4 Data analysis

The semi-structured interviews conducted were fully transcribed in English shortly after the interview was held. Bell et al. (2019) states, this was a very time-consuming part of the thesis, but as they also expressed a key component. Therefore, lots of time was scheduled for the transcription part to assure it was as detailed as possible. When the transcription of all ten semi-structured interviews was done, the initial analysis of the data was conducted. This part is a very critical process of any qualitative research, where different methods of analysing the data will impact the level of quality, overall validity, reliability, and replicability (Bell et al., 2019). A common mistake is to end up in describing data instead of analysing data (Bell et al., 2019). The authors choose to follow restrictions on how to avoid this by applying a thematic analysis and coding method aa processing and analysing method.

3.4.1 Thematic analysis

The thematic analysis applied in this study was a process consisting of five steps. The initial step was the familiarisation of the data, which was done as presented above in 3.4. The second step was the initial coding-process, referred to as first-level coding (Bell et al., 2019), where the identification of interesting sections in the transcribed interviews was summarised into phrases and words. These phrases and words were helpful in the process of summarising the interviews. However, they did not result in any analytical activity. The first-level coding resulted in 599 codes. Further, during the third step, the authors used the 599 codes from the first-level coding and applied them to the second level of coding. Based on the 599 first-level codes' coherency and the relationship, the authors sorted them into 81 different concepts. The 81 concepts thereby include different amounts of codes which enabled a deeper understanding of the concepts generated (Bell et al., 2019). During the fourth step, the thematic analysis was beneficial to identify themes with the first level of coding and the second level of coding as a basis. The aim in this step was to identify themes which represented several concepts. The last and fifth step was initiated by reviewing and refining the themes, and lastly defining and naming them. Five themes were identified based on the 599 codes and 81 concepts in the earlier steps. The five themes are (1 Systematic way of working (2 Strategy (3 Leadership capabilities (4 Collaboration and communication (5 Common understanding.

The authors of this study have chosen to exclude the fourth theme: *Collaboration and communication*. This choice was made because the authors identified the fourth theme as outside this study's scope and available resources. The time limit of this study was suitable for focusing on four themes, excluding the *Collaboration and communication*-theme. However, since this theme is derived from the thematic analysis, it constitutes an exciting topic for further research.



Figure 4 – The thematic analysis-process, designed by authors

3.5 Research quality

Internal validity is, according to Bell et al. (2019), whether or not there is a good match between researchers' observations and theoretical ideas. The internal validity will be confirmed by respondent validation. This will be done by sending the finished case study to Cybercom. Hence, Cybercom will have the possibility to comment on the paper and ensure accuracy.

Internal reliability is, according to Bell et al. (2019), whether or not the members of the research community agree about what they see and hear during the work. This was ensured by both of the authors attending the interviews. Further on, the interviews were transcribed by one of this study's authors, who also wrote the transcription draft of that specific interview. In order to assure a shared perspective, the reviewing of the draft was done in collaboration between the authors. By doing so, it allowed the authors to listen to the interviews several times, which was beneficial while differences in opinions emerged.

External validity is, according to Bell et al. (2019), the degree of which the research's findings can be generalised across social settings. This was difficult to ensure since qualitative researches commonly tend to employ case studies and small sample groups.

External reliability refers to the degree the study can be replicated (Bell et al., 2019). It was challenging to assure external validity because this study is qualitative. LeCompte & Goetz (1982, p. 395) states; *"It is impossible to "freeze" a* social setting and the circumstances of an initial study to make it replicable in the sense *which the term is usually employed*". Reliability appears the case since if the same study were performed in a different company, it would be different. However, with the theoretical framework, the authors will cover both organisational elements inside this specific organisation and external factors according to the theory, which will generate a solid base of general organisational elements transforming innovation management.

4. Empirical findings

This chapter will present the empirical findings from the ten interviewed leaders in Cybercom. The chapter is divided into five sections. These sections represent the themes derived from the thematic analysis. Hence, the four themes will be presented as headings. Furthermore, each theme includes several sub-headings that are derived from the empirical findings in relation to each theme.

4.1 Systematic way of working

4.1.2 Innovation management system

All ten leaders stated how Cybercom's' innovation capabilities and innovation results would benefit from a more centralised innovation management system. Half of the leaders initiated their interviews by discussing how Cybercom does not have an innovation management system today.

The leaders intended this due to Cybercom's legacy and nature of being an IT consultancy firm. Top Leader 3 indicated the lack of an innovation management system by arguing that Cybercom was initially selling knowledge and stated that they are currently only solving problems at the request of the customer. Top Leader 1 similarly expressed with Top Leader 3 how Cybercom is instead assisting in the innovation processes of their customers and therefore, the focus may lie in the customer's potential innovation management system rather than their own. Correspondingly was Mid Leader 2 arguing about an existing framework that could be seen as an innovation management system but was still to narrow and not yet structured, where the expressed direction was more towards opportunity identification but lacked in the focus of the leadership segment. Concerning the above, Top Leader 1 stated that innovation in Cybercom feels too ad-hoc today.

Further on, the majority of the leaders expressed a positive attitude towards a more systematic innovation management system as part of a more holistic and transparent innovation management tool. The same leaders further stated how there is a need for a common approach where one can show the current position and where the organisation wants to be long-term. They also claimed how this would enable the generation of milestones, which clarifies a common strategy and foster a more concerted organisation (Top Leader 1, Leader 1, Leader 3, Leader 4, Middle Leader 2).

Top Leader 1 further mentioned that one of the goals for Cybercom is to increase the systematics in innovation management across the group with a global structure and that a conventional innovation management system, innovation capabilities, innovation results and a framework like innovation excellence, are ways of enabling this structure.

"It is of great importance how the organisation has a common approach, common followups and common goals which is adjusted to the local sites, so each individual can understand the overall structure and be able to see the progress around it." – Top Leader 1 Despite the lack of a standard innovation management system, the majority of the leaders expressed that the implementation of it would be beneficial for the whole organisation in becoming more innovative. The majority also were consistent regarding how a centralised and common innovation management system, covering all Cybercom sites, would increase Cybercom's value offering. A common statement from Top Leader 1, Top Leader 2, and Middle Leader 3 was regarding how it would enable a more beneficial and effective way of working together with customers as a crucial part in increasing their value offering. Leader 6 supported this further by arguing how Cybercom sometimes is controlled even by the customer's customer and therefore would the iterative nature of a more systemised innovation management system ensure that correct values are targeted for the specific customer.

"A more systematic way of working with innovation would result in common definitions and procedures which all employees and customers would benefit from." – Leader 4

Middle Leader 1 further expressed how Cybercom's focus on generating internal Proof of Concepts is a bottleneck as they often are not realised into the market. Middle Leader 1 related this to how Cybercom as a technology firm is more skilled at the left side of ISO 56002 standard (2019) innovation management system than the right side (Appendix 4), which indicates more focus on technological development. Hence, Middle Leader 1 expressed how Cybercom's technological perspective on problems results in proof of concepts as the solution. In order to successfully commercialise innovation into the market, Middle Leader 2 expressed a need for Cybercom to implement a go-to market-strategy, an increased business-oriented view and a more systematic approach to innovation management since it would be beneficial for all leaders in the organisation.

4.1.3 Systematized process of measure and evaluate innovation performance

The majority of the leaders claimed that one of the crucial things the organisation lack is a systematic process for measuring and evaluating innovation capabilities and innovation results together. They further expressed how systematic measurements of innovation performance are not executed, and thereby the possibility of evaluating and improve themselves is not possible. Middle Leader 3 strengthened this by arguing how the organisation lack the possibility and ability to evaluating and following up on their innovation process, and how this hinders and sometimes eliminates the possibility of knowledge transfer between customers and Cybercom.

Top Leader 1 acknowledged further how Cybercom's organisational culture to foster innovation today but need a systematic approach in order to achieve a higher and more rewarding culture, as a systematic way of working was expressed to foster collaborations and a common mindset. In the same manner, Middle Leader 3 mentioned how a more systematic approach would be beneficial

for the organisation since the organisation do not follow up on the current innovation progress today.

"...we are bad at systematising our innovation processes, evaluating and following up on our innovation progress." – Middle Leader 3

Throughout the interviews, the majority of the leaders expressed uncertainty regarding the current existence of key performance indicators on innovation performance in Cybercom. They were also aligned in their expressed confusion regarding how implementing key performance indicators for innovation performance could potentially help the organisation to be able to evaluate the outcome of increased and systematic innovation management. Mid-Leader 2 expressed that implementing key performance indicators for innovation performance would at least enable the organisation to make decisions based on data and thereby be able to develop from there.

4.1.4 Industry challenges

Several leaders at all levels, especially at the top leadership level, expressed how the organisation may face potential challenges in transforming to more systematic innovation management. Leader 3 stated a potential difficulty in combining the standard consulting offering, where one gets paid per hour with a new and emerging business model focused on designing and selling services.

"I see a difficulty in the transformation to start designing and selling services as a business model, as it would require different leadership capabilities, structures, processes, culture, and more. More similar to the start-up culture and its processes and tools." – Leader 3

Further, Leader 4 expressed how the IT-consulting industry and Cybercom are in a paradigm shift from offering resources to start designing individual projects for customers. Leader 4 continued on the same path as Leader 4 and expressed how this is two different business models, but how there necessarily not is an excessive transition between them, which many may expect. Leader 4 further expressed, in the same manner as Leader 2 and Middle Leader 2, how this transformation of moving from resource-based consulting towards asset-based consulting is what management of Cybercom refers to as "scale beyond people". Additionally, half of the leaders mentioned how the implementation of an organisational innovation management system in Cybercom could be a potential enabler for managing this transformation towards designing their products, services and projects. Following above mentioned, Leader 4 showed a positive attitude towards the fact of Cybercom not having a systematic approach, as it facilitates an excellent opportunity for Cybercom to improve themselves and further develop as an organisation.

Moreover, Top Leader 2 expressed confusion about how Cybercom's value offering and business model would be utilised with existing resources if the organisation transformed to asset-based

consulting or scale beyond people took place in their strategy. For the potential transformation to be managed well, all the leaders expressed the need for a more systematic approach of innovation management, consisting of more precise goals, models and evaluation tools.

"I believe we can go from charging clients per hour to generate revenues from other sources, there are examples today, but our innovation management can be even clearer and managed more systematically." – Top Leader 2

4.2 Strategy

4.2.1 Innovation vision

All the leaders agreed about the organisation's need for more strategic guidance to enhance innovation. The majority of the leaders expressed confusion regarding an existing innovation vision. However, Top Leader 1 was the only one mentioning that there is an existing innovation vision for the organisation. The majority of the leaders were aligned in their responses that the focus on innovation in Cybercom as an organisation does exist but is not part of the strategy.

"After all, we are successful in contributing innovation to our customers, in their innovation processes, but I do not feel that we have a vision for our innovation work." – Top Leader 2

Correspondingly, leader 3 claimed that a known and established innovation vision would facilitate the integration of innovation in the daily business and define Innovation Zone's role in the organisation. Top Leader 2 mentioned the need for an innovation vision regarding a long-term need-based approach, instead of the current short-term monetary approach, this in order to stay competitive tomorrow. Further, Middle Leader 2 discussed how top management must develop a shared innovation vision, which is based on the market need and a long-term perspective. All the respondents agreed that the implementation of a more strategic framework based on innovation capabilities and innovation results would benefit the organisation in the form of generating a more shared view on innovation.

4.2.2 Innovation strategy

All the leaders expressed the unclearness and lack of an overall innovation strategy for the organisation as one of the obstacles for successful innovation. Leader 3 even mentioned how Cybercom do not have a clear and common innovation strategy. More than half of the leaders expressed how they knew about an innovation strategy specifically for the Innovation Zone. However, some of the leaders expressed uncertainty regarding how much this strategy focus on innovation. Leader 5 further mentioned;

"I believe the strategy in the Innovation Zone today more is towards building knowledge among our employees, not striving for innovation." – Leader 3

Further, Top Leader 1 claimed how the innovation strategy needs to include more innovation activities to be an innovation strategy. Concerning this, a common challenge expressed throughout the interviews was the disconnection between Innovation Zone and the organisation, all leaders expressed how Innovation Zone, in some form, constitutes a hinder for implementing a common innovation strategy throughout the organisation. All leaders agreed on how this hinders the establishment of a shared innovation strategy and makes it difficult to see if there is a common innovation strategy throughout the organisation.

4.2.3 Innovation strategy's value in business strategy

Four of the leaders mention how the IT-consulting industry is heading towards a paradigm shift from resource-based consulting to asset-based consulting. Where the internal generation of innovation requires a business perspective among other approaches different from today, e.g. a more customer-centric approach, established innovation management system. Leader 4 claimed that a new efficiency focus is required to enable this transformation, where integration between technology development and business need to be closer. Further, Middle Leader 2 corresponded and expressed in terms of the innovation strategy that management needs to enable employees to connect the dots to enhance innovation. Correspondingly, all leaders agreed that the Innovation Zone needs to be more integrated into the daily business and not be standing on its own.

"Cybercom is not including the business perspective in their work with innovation as much as we should" – Top Leader 1

In line with the above mentioned, Top leader 1 stated how this could be done by integrating the innovation strategy into the business strategy. Then a common perspective can be obtained.

4.2.4 Key performance indicators

All the leaders said that they had existing key performance indicators (KPIs) for their specific department. Top Leader 3 and 10 also said that they had individual KPIs as leaders. However, the majority of the leaders expressed that they are not familiar with any KPIs for short-term or long-term innovation performance.

"I am not aware of any KPIs for innovation that we have. I know some of the IZ-leaders [leaders in the Innovation Zone department] have some, but around the business, we do not have any, or I am not aware of any." – Middle Leader 2 Further, all the leaders expressed a need for more KPIs as part of the needed innovation strategy. Top Leader 2 mentioned how a clear innovation strategy requires clear goals, and how Cybercom need clear KPIs to target to be able to ensure an inflow of ideas, and how to validate, prioritize, and act upon selected ideas.

"I do believe we should have more and better KPIs. When we have the visibility, we can see that we are doing something valuable, and we can make better decisions on where to allocate resources and define problems to start an iterative process. Then it is possible to build further on that and at least make some decision based on the data." – Middle Leader 1

The majority of the leaders phrased how top management's decision making in designing common KPIs for Innovation Zone and Business Advisory is a crucial factor for integrating innovation in larger extend into the overall business strategy. Middle Leader 2 emphasized that there should be global innovation KPIs that should be well understood all over the organization. In relation, leader 2 claimed that global innovation KPIs should guide the local KPIs in becoming more aligned and focused on the global innovation strategy. All leaders mentioned that it would be beneficial to have shared KPIs as it would give the organization shared targets to work towards. However, Leader 4 also added the risk of having insufficient KPIs, where KPIs does not only produce positive effects, measuring the wrong things can give the opposite effect, as of measuring behaviours of employees could create irritation (Leader 4). Half of the leaders expressed the same attitude towards KPIs and claimed that there needs to be a balance between the number of KPIs and the quality of them, where Top Leader 1 expressed how it is not about having many KPIs, it is about having the right ones.

4.2.5 Customer-centric approach

A common approach discussed throughout the interviewees were that Cybercom needs a more customer-centric approach in managing innovation. Middle Leader 1 described Customer-centricity as an enabler where innovation happens, and how customer-centricity is a depending action for Cybercom's income and revenue stream. Top Leader 1 stated that customer-centricity is vital for successful innovation and to generate successful innovation and Cybercom has to focus on value creation instead of short-term satisfaction. The majority of the leaders mentioned the challenge of Cybercom being an IT-consulting company where employees tend to see everything as a "tech problem". Middle Leader 2 expressed that due to this view, employees have a hard time focusing on long-term value creation and instead focus on short-term satisfaction, e.g. creating proof of concept.

Furthermore, Middle Leader 1 mentioned the need to balance the perspective of short-term satisfaction and the long-term value creation to gain successful innovation. Top Leader 2 expressed that one could not only do as the customer says, if doing so, but only short-term satisfaction will

also be in focus. Instead, in agreement with the majority of the leaders, Top Leader 2 stated how customers could have unrealistic visions or short-term requirements. For Cybercom to continue their development as a company, the employees need to trust current strategies and use creative resources and to some extent let the customer be a participant in the work instead of the opposite (Top Leader 2). Middle Leader 2 said that even though value should be identified with the customer, it is essential to balance that with the company's own beliefs.

"You need to know your customer, their needs and the industry when you combine that with your knowledge and experiences from Cybercom than you can create innovation." – Middle Leader 2

Top Leader 1 expressed the importance of continuously validating the innovation process with the customer. In accordance, Leader 1 mentioned that there had been cases where inventions have been generated without a validated need from customers. Hence, the invention was not realized to innovation because the customer did not perceive any value from it. Top leader 2 expressed the importance of continuously assure value creation.

"Why should we waste time on something that does not generate any value?" – Top Leader 2

All leaders agreed that customers need to be involved earlier in the innovation process to enhance the development of Cybercom's innovation capabilities and gain higher innovation results. Leader 2 mentioned that the value should be the very first thing to identify and how this could be managed only by working close to the customer. Further, leader 1 claimed that including the customer earlier in the process and keeping them close during the process will ensure the value creation and be financially sustainable for both parties. All the leaders expressed that increased customer-centricity would enhance the organization's innovation capability and lead to higher innovation process results.

4.3 Leadership capabilities

4.3.1 Leadership's commitment to innovation

All leaders, except Leader 1 and Leader 5, expressed how they experience innovation not being Cybercom's focus. Hence, Leader 1 stated how leadership for innovation is advancing together with the organisational culture and implies how the CEO strives and drives innovation in processes daily, at the same time as establishing processes and structures has to set in order to advance leadership capabilities for driving innovation. However, Leader 1 continued and expressed the lack of clear guidelines for innovation management are the reason for why innovation is not receiving more focus into an organisation today, and how these guidelines have to be provided by the top management. Correspondingly, Leader 5 expressed how leadership for innovation in Cybercom

are four out of five because of the organisations' clear will and ambition together with its leaderships openness to changes together with the willingness of controlling innovation commonly.

"There is clear support from the CEO, which drives innovation. Though, we must work on processes and structures managing innovation... There are no clear guidelines, hence focus on innovation in the organisation is very low. Guidelines must come from top management." – Leader 1

Middle Leader 1 discussed how leaders in different departments possess different levels of commitment to innovation. For instance, Middle Leader 1 concludes how leaders in the department "Innovation Zone" have suitable leadership capabilities for innovation, but how the overall leadership in the organisation does not focus on innovation. Likewise, Top Leader 2 raised the department "Innovation Zone" and stated it as innovation activates inside the organisation is limited to this department. Consequently, it is the overall leader's focus and priority for innovation absent.

"I find leadership for innovation within our organisation for innovation as bad. I do not feel that our internal innovation work is a priority. Today, innovation is either about Innovation Zone or helping the customer with innovation." – Top Leader 2

Leader 4 continued to confirm leaderships' lack of commitment to innovation by describing how there is a difficulty in requiring leaders to deliver results daily, and at the same time demand leaders to design and build innovative businesses of tomorrow. To overcome this challenge, Leader 4 suggested how leaders' responsibilities can be divided into four groups, based on the Zone to win model, which enables some leaders to be responsible for different levels of innovation with different time perspectives.

4.3.2 Leadership's strengths and weaknesses

According to Leader 3, Cybercom's leadership does not have a high level of maturity in understanding innovation, something which is expressed by the majority of leaders in the IT-consultancy industry. Hence, Cybercom is part of the IT-consultancy industry, and it can be a potential explanation for why the organisation does not have a higher level of maturity in understanding innovation. However, Top Leader 1 emphasises that Cybercom is in a transformation from consultancy-based performance to designing and offer innovation, and how leaders will drive this transformation as the organisation has increased its resources allocated for the vision to transform.

"It is good that the top management is positive towards learning and have a long-term perspective. They see the benefits of doing this transformation. They do not have a straightforward strategy of doing it, but they are willing to go there." – Leader 3

Middle Leader 2 expressed how Cybercoms' leadership does not have any strengths within innovation, this because it focuses on efficiency and occupancy. Moreover, Middle Leader 2 also expressed how the organisational leadership capability for innovation is low on average. Leader 3 concurred and expressed how an innovation cycle requires different types of leadership styles, and this is something which has to be considered in enhancing leadership capabilities for increased innovation performance.

"I do not think we have it as a mind-set; we remain in the practical mind-set and separate innovation from it. We need to include innovation into our mind-set. However, we do not have the communication or the tools to realise it." – Leader 2

Middle Leader 3 was of a different opinion. The existing leadership capabilities are strong in managing workshops with customers and generating lots of new ideas. The challenges lie in realising these ideas into successful innovation. Several leaders concluded in how Cybercom's leadership is good at generating new ideas. Nevertheless, there exist challenges in how these new ideas are communicated throughout the organisation, especially to the top management. Middle Leader 1 expresses how leadership capabilities can be improved by increasing communication skills, internal sales skills and pitching skills in order to increase the probability for successful innovation. Middle Leader 1 continued to describe how leadership skills in selling new ideas internally and get people behind the idea are essential for successful innovation. Continuously, Middle Leader 1 stressed how the leadership capabilities of understanding people could be more important than business skills in this context. For example, Leader 2 expressed accordingly how learning about storytelling, how to create an entrepreneurial environment, Lean startup methodology and how to coach and how to follow up, would strengthen the individual leadership capabilities, are capabilities Leader 2 wished to improve. Likewise, Leader 3 stated how all leaders who drive innovation in the organisation need to be able to explain and pitch ideas to their manager, this in order to increase the probability for ideas to reach top management. Leader 5 instead focused on how Cybercom's leadership have to work hard, increase understanding and openness in order to achieve successful innovation. In comparison, Middle Leader 3 expressed how leadership capabilities have to be strengthened in order to mature in transform from an "operational spinning-loop" to managing an innovation management system.

"This transformation is something all organisational members has to contribute to in order for the organisation to succeed. – Middle Leader 2

4.3.3 Innovation management system

Middle Leader 1 stated how Cybercom does not commit to a structured or extensive innovation management system today. Middle Leader 1 studied the innovation management system (Appendix 5) and underlined how the lack of leadership is a challenge. Leader 4 and Middle Leader 9 continued to agree upon how one conventional innovation management system does not exist. Both Leaders expressed how different offices work in silos. The offices apply the local, instead of organisational perspective, and focusing on occupancy levels and operational activities instead of managing one central innovation management system. Leader 2 expressed how Cybercom has not identified suitable KPIs nor developed the appropriate leadership hitherto for implementing an innovation differs a lot between different offices and departments. Also, working iteratively and validating development of new ideas is most common in the department Innovation Zone. Leader 2 further emphasised how Cybercom's current transformation from resource-based consulting to asset-based consulting will require other types of leadership, structures, processes etcetera in order to facilitate innovation accordingly. Besides, Leader 2 stated how Cybercom need to embrace a start-up culture, with its processes and tools in managing this transformation.

"To successfully go further with new ideas, it is important to have a structure for how to validate and follow up such ideas." – Leader 2

The majority of the leaders emphasised on implementation of a central innovation management system is not on the leadership agenda. However, the majority of the leaders were consistent in how implementing a central innovation management system would strengthen leadership capabilities and hence the organisations' innovation performance.

"We need to have a better system to follow up on these [innovation results]. Every leader is responsible for following them up, but this leads to different result due to different levels of knowledge [managing innovation]." – Top Leader 1

Leader 1 further stressed the lack of a complete innovation management system. Some parts as Innovation funnel, Stage gate, Leadership, Plan-Do-Check-Act cycle exists in some degree in projects, although this is limited to Innovation Zone. Moreover, Leader 1 continued to describe how an iterative process similar to the Plan-Do-Check-Act cycle exists in projects, but no systematic approach to innovation. Consequently, Leader 1 stresses how the organisation must work more efficiently with customers in order to establish innovative activities and bring new customers much earlier into an innovation process.

"With a better [Innovation] strategy and understanding [of innovation management Systems], we will achieve so much more. The competence level in the different Innovation Zones is very different. It is like a shoemaker without shoes." – Leader 3

4.4 Common understanding

4.4.1 Common understanding of innovation

The definition of innovation was discussed and elaborated with the leaders, and it was clear that the understanding of innovation is widely spread throughout the organisation. However, regardless of level, all Leaders were consistent in expressing the importance of increasing the maturity level of innovation in the organisation to assure a common understanding. Leader 3 revealed that the creation of a shared understanding should constitute the first step to enhance the organisation's innovation capability. Accordingly, was Top Leader 1 arguing, who mentioned that a standard view and knowledge of innovation throughout the organisation would increase the organisation's innovation capabilities. Furthermore, Top Leader 1 was also arguing that a common understanding of innovation also would enable Cybercom to become more intertwined, which in turn would foster innovation in the daily business.

"If we do not have leaders that understand what innovation is about, people being led will not understand either. The first step towards an organisational understanding of innovation should be first to ensure that our leaders share the same understanding; only then we can increase our innovation capabilities." – Leader 5

Middle Leader 3 explained in the same way but added that the confusion regarding the meaning of innovation might also be due to employees, even leaders, do not have innovation as a mind-set. Middle Leader 3 further described that many of the individuals within Cybercom might still be in the execution mind-set and tend to separate innovation from it.

4.4.2 The fundamental difference between invention and innovation

One challenge expressed by all leaders was the difficulty of separating the meaning of invention and what constitutes an innovation. They were all aligned in their arguments regarding that this challenge appears in most of the projects managed for clients. Correspondingly, Middle Leader 2 expressed that this problem of not having a shared view of innovation needs to be solved since innovation constitutes a large part of Cybercom's vision and has to be embraced by the organisation in order to stay competitive. Leader 3 further expressed how the confusion between invention and innovation is extra tangible during onboarding processes, where an introduction regarding the difference between innovation and invention is usually necessary. Corresponding to Leader 3 was Top Leader 1 and several other leaders arguing whom they believed that individuals with technical education or technical experiences tend to have more difficulties in understanding the differences between the two terms. However, Top Leader 1 further made clear that it is not only individuals with a technical background that find the definitions hard to separate and indicated how it is a common difficulty throughout the organisation. Furthermore, the problem of separating these definitions was commonly expressed as more eminent in the innovation Zone department, as this area is referred to as the place where the leaders should develop innovation. In accordance, Middle Leader 2 described how the work in the Innovation Zone is the rather technical development of several proofs of concepts and should not be called innovation. The majority of the leaders expressed that innovation is instead a buzz word which indicates the name of Innovation Zone. However, all of the leaders mentioned, after being introduced to the definition of successful innovation, how technical development might be what is focused on, rather than focusing on the innovation process as a whole. Furthermore, Leader 3 gave another perspective of the confusion regarding the existence of innovation in Innovation Zone where Leader 3 expressed how the role of Innovation Zone is education, to build competence, and how its current state is not about building innovation. Leader 3 statement regarding Innovation Zone's role as being an area of education was aligned with several of the leaders, where Top Leader 1 stated that knowledge building is a large part of the purpose of Innovation Zone, which enables consultants between projects to educate further and develop themselves.

However, regarding the existence of innovation within the Innovation Zone, several of the leaders where consistently discussing the proof of concept (PoC) in connection to innovation, which Top Leader 2 expressed confuses the nature of the term. Further, Leader 3 mentioned how this might be because of the general excitement and satisfaction in technical circles for developing PoCs. Corresponding to Leader 3 was Middle Leader 1 stated how the high focus on PoCs in technical circles, and the excitements and satisfaction for it, generate a perspective were employees and leaders believe that innovation is the same thing as designing PoCs. Top Leader 1 conceded and expressed that employees and leaders tend to see innovation as something a PoC can solve. Leader 4 stated that PoCs constitutes a large portion of their revenue, although, it should not be confused with innovation since it is usually only technical development. What was commonly expressed by the leaders was how a common understanding needs to be established for the evolution of the Innovation Zone department. They were all aligned in their arguments that the understanding of the difference between invention and innovation have to be known on an organisational level as well.

4.4.3 Focusing on value creation

All the leaders were consistent in their answers regarding Cybercom's focus on occupancy, and how this results in leaders and employees having a primary focus of being problem solvers on behalf of the clients. Middle Leader 2 expressed how these are the actions of the old traditional IT consulting approach, where innovation is seen from a technological perspective. Several of the leaders described how the focus on actual value creation for the customers sometimes is forgotten due to the high focus on the technology part. An example, which was mentioned several times, was how a project starts with a customer need and a clear picture of what value a solution for this would yield. However, as the process goes, the leaders (Leader 4, Leader 1, Leader 2) expressed

how the focus on the value slowly goes away and are being replaced by them only focusing on the development of technology, e.g. proof of concept. They described how this contributes to projects not being optimally delivered as the value is missed out. The technology itself is usually of very high quality but as Leader 4 mentioned is it not directed towards long-term value creation, but rather a short-term solution.

Additionally, the majority of the leaders, regardless of their place in the hierarchy, stated how the organization has to work more with identifying, understanding, and delivering value for the customer. According to Top Leader 2, is it a waste of time, for all included in the process, if the projects they deliver does not generate any value for whom it concerns.

"...no innovation can be perceived valuable unless it is perceived as valuable by the customer." – Middle Leader 3

Why innovation is not prioritized among Cybercom's local sites is expressed by Top Leader 2 because of the low level of understanding regarding what value innovation brings and how to obtain such value. The majority of the leaders were consistent in their expressions regarding the requirements of a broader business understanding in order to understand the importance of long-term value creation. Several leaders described how this could be managed by increasing closer collaborations between the Business Advisory department and the Innovation Zones', as this was expressed to enable knowledge sharing and increase the business perspective potentially. Furthermore, Middle Leader 1 gave another perspective and expressed how the bottleneck might be the lack of business understanding among leaders on the local sites. Middle Leader 1 continued and mentioned how increased business understanding at the leader level, as well as more frequent communication regarding value creation to their teams could enhance common understanding. In correspondence with several other leaders, Middle Leader 2 expressed how the creation of value should be the first thing to ensure while entering a project with a customer. Top Leader 1 indicated by arguing how Cybercom has to become better in identifying value much earlier in the processes with customers.

"If innovation is understood, the long-term focus will be allowed and not only the strive for short-term money. Then we understand that innovation has to cost a little to be able to generate value in the future." – Leader 4

In the same way Leader 5 and Top Leader 1 stated that only the generation of a common understanding of innovation is a step towards being future competitive in the IT- consulting industry. The majority of the leaders expressed themselves in the same way and expressed how an implementation of a common innovation management system or Innovation Excellence concept depends on the understanding of innovation. If the employees and the leaders do not understand innovation, these concepts and tools will instead cause confusion and inefficiency.

4.3 Summary of empirical findings

This section presents a summary of key empirical findings (Table 7). The right side of Table 7 presents the four themes identified and developed in the thematic analysis 3.4.1. The left side of Table 7 presents key empirical findings related to the themes

Summary of empirical findings						
Themes:	Findings:					
Systematic way of working	 Lack of a systematic way of working with innovation. In need of systematic processes to work with innovation. All leaders claimed that innovation management system can enable systematic. More systematics can increase innovation capabilities and improve innovation results. Systematic follow-ups, design, evaluation, iteratively improvement loops. More systematic in interactions with customers is required. 					
Strategy	 The organisation needs to become aligned in their innovation management on organisational level. Expressed need for one common innovation- vision and strategy. Establish common objectives by accurate KPIs, across departments, offices and throughout the organisation. Increase the strategic focus on customer-centricity. Increase focus on measuring, evaluating and improvement throughout the innovation process. 					
Leadership capabilities	 Increase business competence and combine it with competence in technology. Focus on long-term value creation. Apply and manage different leadership styles. Foster innovation culture. Enable collaborations and thus synergy effects. 					
Common understanding	 Develop a common understanding of innovation throughout the organisation. Increase the organisations maturity level to innovation. Increase the understanding of how to transform to asset-based consulting, thus focus on long-term value creation. Common understanding of collaborations, "connecting the dots", and synergy effects. 					

Table 7 – Summary of empirical findings, designed by authors.

5. Analysis

In the following chapter, the empirical findings will be analysed concerning the theoretical framework. The conceptual model of the theoretical framework is related to the four themes in the empirical findings, resulting in the analysis model below. The analysis model will enable a holistic view of the analysis. The concepts from the theoretical framework are the main headings, and the four themes from the empirical findings are sub-headings to each concept of the theoretical framework.

5.1 Analysis model

The analysis model summaries the connections made by this study's authors between the empirical findings and the theoretical framework. The connections are based on the empirical findings from the respondents, compared with the concepts from the theoretical framework. The connections will be defined as *Strong, Medium* and *Weak*. This will give indications of the level of unity amongst the three leadership-levels when identifying connections between the empirical findings and the theoretical framework, hence form the basis of the analysis.

- The connection is *Strong* if all three leadership-levels (*Leader, Middle Leader and Top Leader*) are united in the empirical findings, compared to the theoretical framework.
- The connection is *Medium* if two leadership-levels are united in the empirical findings, compared to the theoretical framework.
- The connection is *Weak* if none of the leadership-levels is united in the empirical findings, compared to the theoretical framework.

Strengths of each connection in the analysis model below will provide the reader with a holistic perspective of the analysis, and simultaneously an indication of the identified connections strengths under each heading. This because the analysis will be structured following the structure of the analysis model. The structure of the analysis model is designed to build on the Conceptual model (Figure 3), which will all be analysed from the four themes derived from the thematic analysis (Figure 4), which resulted in the empirical findings.

An example, the connection between the theme "Systematic way of working" and framework "Innovation management systems" are "Strong". This demonstrates that all three leadership-levels are united in expressing a connection between "Systematic way of working" and "Innovation management systems". The connection only demonstrates the level of unity amongst the leadership-levels. The unity does not state if the leaders have expressed a connection made between the theoretical framework and empirical findings as relevant or irrelevant. The strength of the connection is based on the leadership-levels unitedness in the specific box (see boxes in

the analysis model below) between the themes and the theoretical framework, hence each box is represented by one primary connection. Also, the analysis model is constructed to simplify and fortify the relevance of the analysis, provide the reader with a holistic overview and enable an analysis focused to analyse the findings from the empirical findings concerning the theoretical framework.

The three levels of unity (*Strong, Medium* and *Weak*) gives both the analysis and the reader an indication of how the analysis can be structured. A *Weak* unity can indicate that the organisation requires structure derived from the theoretical framework or that the organisations leaders have not to vision effective innovation management practices following the concepts from the theoretical framework. A *Strong* connection can instead indicate that innovation management practices have been identified and not realised due to challenges or irrelevance.

The analysis model below has the empirical findings, categorised into the four themes in the horizontal heading. The theoretical framework is presented in the vertical heading, categorised into two frameworks and two concepts.

		Emprical findings				
		Systematic way of working	Strategy	Leadership capabilities	Common understanding	
Theoretical framework	Innovation management systems	Strong	Strong	Strong	Strong	
	Innovation excellence	Medium	Medium	Strong	Weak	
	Customer centricity	Strong	Strong	Strong	Strong	

Table 8 – Analysis model, designed by authors.

See Appendix 3 for the analysis model's working-version.

5.2 Innovation management systems

5.2.1 Systematic way of working

To increase an organisations' innovation management performance, innovation management should implement an innovation management system. This because a standardised innovation management system will support innovation management to function more systematically and effectively (Karlsson & Magnusson, 2019; Mir et al., 2016). In comparison with theory, all leadership-levels expressed a real need for more systemised innovation management practices. However, leaders represented at all Leaders-levels expressed uncertainty if the organisation have implemented an innovation management system or not. The leaders who could determine specific segments of an existing innovation management system were the leaders from the Leadership-level in the Innovation Zone department and one Top Leader. Therefore, innovation management is not fully established, nor systemised across all leadership levels or leaders. The Middle Leaders unawareness of the existing segments of the innovation management system indicates that the existing innovation management practices can become more efficient by establishing a full innovation management system. Hence, all leadership-levels will have to increase awareness of managing this system effectively, and simultaneously acknowledge this systemised process as a common way of working.

The Innovation Zone department is identified by all leadership-levels to work with segments from an innovation management system. The Leader-level and Middle Leader-level expressed the way of working in Innovation Zone departments as working in silos. The Top Leader-level, however, emphasised that the Innovation Zone department has short weekly meetings where each Innovation Zone department presents its agenda, and longer meetings each quarter. Top management is responsible for establishing commitment, respect and responsibilities in an innovation management system ISO 56002 standard (2019). Therefore, if the organisation currently applies an innovation management system this would indicate that the Top Leader-level has not succeeded to establish commitment, respect or responsibilities for a standardised innovation management system. This could also imply that each department experiences challenges to practising an extensive innovation management system, which can hinder to establish a systematic way of working, according to the ISO 56002 standard (2019). This further implies that the implementation of an innovation management system has to be standardised and directed from the Top Leaderlevel to increase the systematic way of working throughout the organisation.

The organisations legacy of being an IT-consultancy firm can have implications on the organisation's systematic way of working. Leaders represented in all leadership-levels expressed that the way of working in the IT-consultancy industry is to sell knowledge and support customers in their innovation processes. This, instead of managing the organisations' innovation management practice. For instance, Leader 2 expressed that the existing parts of the innovation management system as narrow and unstructured. Hence, this indicates that the organisation's priority has not been in facilitating the organisation's management system.

Conversely, the focus implies to have been on supporting customers with innovative solutions and how to manage innovation in their organisations. The standardised system for innovation management can hence be advantageous to reduce barriers of an unclear internal innovation strategy, leadership focus and capabilities and other inefficiencies related to innovation management (ISO 56002 standard., 2019). Also, the literature and empirical findings indicated that implementing a standardised innovation management system can exploit the existing competencies of supporting customers innovation processes and leverage these competencies into an internal systematic way of working.

The current transformation from resource-based consulting to asset-based consulting can be one crucial factor to clarify why the leaders expressed a need for a more systematic way of working. The leadership has expressed a need for a more systematic way of working can be partially clarified with the IT-consultancy industries transformation from resource-based consulting to asset-based consulting. This because the ongoing transformation will require new ways of working. Developing internal assets, instead of providing customers with resources, will require leaders to approach a more systematic way of working. To embrace the ongoing transformation, the literature implies that investing in this transformation can be crucial for survival, and to sustain and strengthen the market position (Christensen, 2013).

Furthermore, literature states that the current paradigm shift will result in increased development of assets in the IT-consultancy industry, and how these assets will become products offered to customers. This will require competent and capable leadership in managing innovative solutions (Volberad et al., 2006). Henceforth, leaders demand and experience new structures, capabilities, and a systematic way of working in managing innovation. The literature states that a standardised innovation management system can be one fundamental factor in generating a systematic way of working in managing innovation.

5.2.2 Strategy

According to literature, a successful innovation management system is highly dependent on leaderships' ability to create and establish common strategic guidance for the organisation. Millman & Wilson (1999) states that a leader's commitment to innovation activities are a cornerstone of organisations to facilitate a culture that supports innovation and its strategies. Respondents from all leadership levels expressed how the organisation has a strong commitment to innovation. The Top Leaders are clear in innovation being central for the organisation's success. Hence the commitment for innovation is not a constraint in managing innovation internally more effectively. Instead, leaders represented in all leadership-levels, expressed the importance for the Top Leaders to establish an established and shared innovation vision and strategy to effectively managing innovation. Mir et al. (2016) conclude on the importance for the top management to establish an innovation vision and strategy, which indicates that innovation management can be

managed more effectively by Top Leaders establishment if an innovation vision and strategy.

The majority of the Leaders and Middle Leaders conceded that they were not aware of a common innovation strategy. Both the Leader and the Middle Leaders further expressed that innovation is restricted to the Innovation Zone departments. According to Mir et al. (2016) can the

implementation of an innovation management system support leaders in the establishment of an innovation vision and strategy, therefore aligning the organisation in its innovation activities. The Leaders and Middle Leaders unawareness of an existing innovation strategy and Top Leaders focus on innovation being central in the organisation, indicates on that a standardised system could be implemented in order to manage innovation more effectively. For example, the innovation-standards CEN-TS 16555-1 (CEN, 2013) and ISO 56002:2019 (ISO 56002 standard., 2019) can support the Top Leaders in establishing an innovation strategy together with an innovation vision, organisational commitment and policies (ISO 56002 standard., 2019). Hence, the Top Leaders focus on innovation, the leaderships desire for clarity indicates that a standardised innovation management system could provide a strategy, milestones and a common way of understanding and work with innovation.

The current transformation of the IT-consultancy industry-transforming to asset-based consulting, new flexible delivery models are required for organisations to be capable of meeting the rapidly evolving needs of clients (Nissen, 2018). Therefore, organisations' capability to allocate suitable competences to manage innovation effectively are increasing the probability of gaining competitive advantages (Volberad et al., 2016). Leaders from all leadership-levels expressed that the organisation possesses a high capability in delivering high-quality solutions for their clients. However, the leaders also discussed how this is done without a common innovation strategy or shared objectives. Therefore, the development of a shared innovation strategy, common understanding indicates how competitive advantages could be established.

Conversely, all leadership levels expressed that the organisation need to establish a shared innovation strategy, to develop competencies accordingly and enable synergies between different offices. This implies that implementing a central structure can be necessary for the organisation to decrease silos and establish synergies. An innovation management system implies to have the required qualities to establish an innovation strategy, objectives, milestones and iterative processes to foster synergies on an intermediate level (ISO 56002 standard., 2019). The central function of the innovation management system can hence decrease the organisations implied to be, fragmented process and increase the innovation performance and probability for gaining competitive advantages.

Furthermore, introducing an innovation management system in the organisation indicates to provide leadership with a more holistic perspective in managing innovation. It hence implies to benefit leaders' capabilities in evaluating and identifying improvements in managing innovation (Karlsson & Magnusson, 2019). The leadership at all leadership-levels could consequently share a common understanding of the innovation process and collectively work to foster successful innovation. The Top Leaders are central in establishing the innovation strategy and the commitment for all leadership-levels, and the empirical findings indicate how this is still not adequately managed by the Top Leaders compared to literature.

Thus, the lower leadership levels can adapt to the degree of employees' competence, areas of improvement and resources to align the organisational strategy with their local resources.

Leader 3 described how an established innovation vision and strategy would facilitate the integration of innovation into the daily business. Following the literature, the innovation vision and strategy together with its objectives and collaborative environments is of great importance for managing innovation effectively (Wilson & Woodburn, 2014).

Expressions' of the leaders is in line with how Wilson & Woodburn (2014) discuss regarding collaborations between departments, majorly between business and technology, which should be included in the innovation strategy (Wilson & Woodburn, 2014). The Leaders and Middle Leaders expressed that the department's Innovation Zone and Business Advisory, have a low level of collaboration, both at each site and also between different sites. The literature indicates how increased collaborations can result in increased knowledge-sharing and thereby increase organisational innovation performance (Kastelli & Takanikas, 2004). Therefore, the organisation implies to enable increased collaboration which can generate increase the efficiency of managing innovation. If managed successfully, this could indicate how not only development of the leadership's capabilities can emerge, but also increase the efficiency in managing innovation in the organisation and decrease the risk of innovation being restricted to only the Innovation Zone departments.

It is, therefore, of great importance to foster collaboration in the organisations, and literature implies how the organisation's leadership have to encourage employees and other leaders to connect (Wilson & Woodburn, 2014). Establishing connections indicates to allow employees and leaders in the organisation to share their experiences and competencies to a greater extend. Therefore, it is essential to ensure that leaders have the capabilities to communicate and establish a shared innovation vision and strategy. Doing so successfully, it is implied how a collaborative and knowledge-sharing environment can arise. This primarily because the transformation in the IT consulting industry, which literature state to result in an asset-based approach of consulting where different mindsets and competencies will be needed (Nissen, 2018). Correspondingly, leaders represented at all leadership levels in the organisation, expressed the transformation as a current and vital challenge to address and stresses the importance of managing innovation internally, unlike today (Nissen, 2018). Therefore, to addressing this challenge accurately and establishing an efficient practice of establishing an innovation strategy and managing innovation, an innovation management system is implied by literature to direct the organisation's focus and enable allocation of resources (ISO 56002 standard., 2019).

5.2.3 Leadership capabilities

Mir et al. (2016) state that an innovation management system will have positive impacts on the organisation's overall innovation capabilities and business performance. At the same time, the majority of leaders in Cybercom, regardless of leadership level, expressed that innovation is not the organisation's primary focus. Hence, the absence of the organisation's innovation-focus can, according to literature indicate to be an obstacle to obtain increased innovation capabilities (Carmeli et al., 2010; Beer et al., 2005; Wipulanusat, Panuwatwanich & Stewart, 2017). Therefore, the literature indicates that innovation-focus has to be established in order to increase innovation capabilities. The Leaders and the Middle Leaders expressed the absence of clear guidelines for innovation from the top management. This, despite the Leaders and Middle Leader's willingness to improve capabilities in manage innovation in a more standardised and efficient way. This indicates that an innovation management system and its standardised practices of managing innovation and improving innovation capabilities can be a cornerstone in both increasing the focus on innovation and to support the leadership in improving capabilities to manage innovation in a more standardised and efficient way. This because innovation management systems are designed to support leaders to navigate complex processes of innovation, systemise their activities and enhance the efficiency of the managing innovation (Mir et al., 2016). However, leaders from all leadership levels expressed that leaders have different levels of commitment to innovation. One potential explanation made by a Middle Leader is that the leadership's continuously balancing act can explain leaders' absent commitment between achieving operational goals and 'designing businesses of tomorrow'.

Moreover, regardless of leadership level, the leadership were aligned that achieving operational goals are currently prioritised in the organisation. Literature implies that the top management has to establish directions, measurements and structures which supports innovation management, to provide leadership with the capability of managing innovation successfully, (Karlsson & Magnusson, 2019). If this is not managed successfully, it indicates how the leadership's priority will be on operational goals, instead of 'designing businesses of tomorrow'. Therefore, it can be vital that the top management establishes directions, measurement and structures, which balance the operational goals and innovation management practices. It can, therefore, be vital to understand how existing leadership capabilities may be more capable of achieving operational goals than managing innovation. Hence, to establish directions in line with literature, measurements, and structures is vital. However, the leaderships transformation from focusing on operational goals to 'designing businesses of tomorrow' can require investments in leaderships capabilities to manage innovation effectively, initiated by Top Leaders. However, to manage innovation effectively, it is of great importance to establish coexistence, collaboration, collaborative culture and operation-oriented mind-set (Homburg, 2002; Brady, 2004; Nystrom et al., 2002).

Furthermore, leaders at all leadership levels confirmed that the implementation of the innovation management system would strengthen the overall leadership capabilities and hence the

organisational performance. Still, the same leaders conceded how the implementation of an innovation management system is not on the leadership agenda, despite the Top Leaders stated focus on increased innovation management practices. Therefore, leaders at all leadership levels imply to have a strong willingness and commitment to innovation, which, according to literature is vital to manage a culture that supports innovation (Millman & Wilson, 1999). Consequently, this indicates that the Top Leaders are more likely influencing the leaderships agenda than the Leaders and Middle Leaders, therefore indicates literature on that Top Leaders can set more effective innovation management practices on the leadership agenda, as the innovation management system. This because it implies to facilitate Leaders and Middle Leaders willingness and commitment, and to foster a culture which is supportive of innovation.

5.2.4 Common understanding

The establishment of an innovation management system is dependent on all leadership levels' understanding of innovation. Regardless of the leadership level, all leaders have to develop an understanding for innovation, especially for how an invention is not an innovation because an invention has not generated any added value for the customer (Hakkarainen & Talonen, 2004). The majority of leaders represented at all leadership-levels expressed that they understand the difference but emphasised that the majority of employees do not have the same level of understanding for how innovation is defined. Literature states that innovation has to be commercialised in order to be defined as innovation. Hence an invention has not added any value to customers and can, therefore, not be defined as innovation (Stevens & Burley, 1996). Also, the innovation's related investments should be returned by the innovation together with its indications of profit. The literature, therefore, supports the authors of this study's definition of successful innovation and can thereby imply a need to establish in the organisation in order to establish an understanding.

The Leaders and Middle Leaders further expressed how the Top Leaders lack the understanding of innovation and how this is something the Top Leaders will have to address in order to manage innovation management practices more effectively. This indicates how Top Leaders may lack the fundamentals of innovation, which can generate barrier in managing effective innovation practices because it is the Top Leaders who have to establish commitment, strategy, vision for innovation (Beer et al., 2005; ISO 56002 standard., 2019). Therefore, the literature implies how the Top Leaders and the organisation can decrease the barriers to managing innovation more effectively by establishing fundamental structures for how to manage innovation. If Top Leaders facilitates the fundamental structure for understanding and managing innovation successfully, the literature indicates that innovations may not be misinterpreted as inventions, and a common understanding of successful innovations can result in increased innovation performance.

To increase the organisation's level of common understanding, the first fundamental segment is according to literature to understand the organisation's context. This because the organisational context is where innovation is managed and the frame to identifying new opportunities and deploy solutions (ISO 56002 standard., 2019). The organisational context can enhance individual learning and provide space for creativity by establishing a discussion around the collaboration between departments and leader's engagement level in the organisational climate (Nystrom et al., 2002). Leaders at all leadership levels express in line with literature the importance of a collaborative environment and further clarified how a collaborative environment can result in common understanding amongst different departments. However, as previously mentioned by Leaders and Middle leaders, different departments in different offices are working in a silo-like environment with varying levels of internal communication.

In comparison with literature, a discussion around collaboration can foster individual learning and creativity. However, a discussion around collaboration can be complicated to establish with varying levels of internal communications and in a silo-like environment. This further indicates that knowledge-sharing is low, hence complicates to establish a collaborative environment. Also, the literature states that technology and business have to work side by side in organisations to develop new value offerings in the IT-consultancy industry (Nissen, 2018). Hence, this implies that the organisation can start collaborative engagements by introducing technological and business competence to each other, for instance, inducing collaborations between the Innovation Zone department and Business Advisory department.

Leaders expressed the difference between invention and innovation as an organisational challenge. This because many inventions are defined as innovations, and often not commercialised. Increasing collaboration between the organisations technological and business competence indicates, therefore, in line with the literature, that the collaborative efforts can establish more innovations. The literature further emphasises the importance of facilitating collaboration between different parts of the organisation because of its effect in facilitating access to, and sharing of knowledge (Homburg et al., 2002; Brady, 2004). The leadership in Cybercom implies that the collaborative efforts and knowledge sharing are a challenge to manage innovation more effectively, which indicates in line with literature that a common understanding can increase by increasing collaboration and knowledge-sharing.

5.3 Innovation excellence

5.3.1 Systematic way of working

The Top Leader level expressed that working more systematically in managing innovation is one of the organisations primary goals. The Leader level and Top Leader level both stated that the organisation possess a high level of competence for managing innovation but require a structure to allocate competencies and resources more efficiently. This indicates, in line with the literature, that innovation excellence can support the organisation to work more systematically and structured

and strengthen organisations innovation capabilities at the same time (Adams et al., 2006). Increasing the organisation's innovation capabilities is one necessity in order to strive for best practice innovation management, which is referred to innovation excellence (Adams et al., 2006; Dervitsiotis, 2010). This implies that the leadership in Cybercom has not exploited the leaderships existing competence efficiently in order to strengthen innovation capabilities and establish more effective innovation management practices. Therefore, allocating resources more effectively, and identifying a more systematic way of working as with innovation excellence, can transform the organisation to manage asset-based consulting and hence sustain and strengthen the market position (Christensen, 2013). The literature, therefore, implies that Cybercom's way of working can hinder to increase innovation capabilities and strengthen the current market position. Thereby, increasing the systematic way of working, as with innovation excellence, implies to increase the organisation's innovation capabilities and innovation performance.

Moreover, leaders at all leadership levels expressed a need for a more holistic framework in order to work more systematically with innovation management. Literature implies accordingly that more advanced measurement techniques can transform existing challenges to innovation metrics (Kanji, 2002). This because metrics can be evaluated for identifying causal relationships. Hence, the literature and leaders' expressions indicate that the organisation's leadership can move from a less systematised way of working with innovation management, to more holistically with advanced metrics. Likewise, the leadership's focus on operational goals and silo-like practices implies to benefit from a more advanced metric-centric perspective. This because more collective efforts and systematic structures could be established by more advanced metrics and a more holistic perspective. Also, introducing more advanced metrics, as in innovation excellence practices, indicates to provide the organisation with a more systematic way of working, hence indicates to increase their capability to explore new opportunities and identify improvements iteratively.

Regardless of leadership level, many leaders expressed the inefficiency in the exploitation of competence in innovation as an essential challenge to address. The Middle Leaders further stressed this to be a critical factor for innovation being managed more efficiently and resulting in more innovations. The Boston Consulting Group (2009) verifies that there is a general dissatisfaction in the IT-consultancy industry regarding the output in terms of innovation concerning the investments being made. Thereby, this implies that the top management of Cybercom not only have to exploit the leaderships competence more effectively, but also provide the leadership with capabilities and investments in practices that support the leadership to measure and evaluate the outcome of investments in innovation progress, when striving for innovation excellence (Bassiti & Ajhoun, 2016; Dervitiotis, 2010). Therefore, it is fundamental to understand how existing competence for innovation can be exploited more effectively. However, without a more systematic process in managing innovation, further progress is implied to be constrained. Thus, to support the innovation

progress, establishing a more systemised process of measuring innovation performance and to exploit existing competence more effectively is advantageous. This implies, in line with the literature, that identifying factors that hinder and supports a more systematically way of working can give advantages in the strive of innovation excellence. To exemplify the importance of a systematic way of working, Bassiti & Ajhoun states (2016, p.1): *"what is not measurable cannot be neither managed nor improved."*.

5.3.2 Strategy

The framework for assessing a firm's level of innovation excellence (Figure 2) states the central importance of managing a successful innovation strategy as one vital innovation capability. The framework by Dervitiotis (2010) therefore provides an organisation to assess and improve its level of innovation excellence. However, it is essential to address the difference of innovation strategy managed in the innovation excellence framework (Table 3) and the innovation management system (Table 1) (Dervitiotis, 2010). The aim of the innovation strategy in the innovation excellence framework is to be applied extensively and guide the organisation in targeting great innovation achievements (Adams et al., 2006). The innovation management system and its innovation strategy are instead a standardised process to establish an innovation strategy but do not directly target great innovation achievements (Dervitiotis, 2010). Therefore, the innovation excellence framework target to assess the organisation's innovation capabilities and innovation results to achieve significant innovation achievements (Adams et al., 2006; Dervitiotis, 2010). The leaders represented at all leadership levels in Cybercom stated a need for a more systematic approach to managing innovation, as mentioned previously. The Leader level and Middle leader level introduced that an innovation strategy, covering all organisational units, can facilitate a more systematic approach to managing innovation, throughout the organisation. Hence, in line with the literature, the innovation excellence framework indicates that Cybercom could establish a more systematic approach by assessing and improving its innovation capabilities and innovation results and striving for great innovation achievements at once (Adams et al., 2006; Dervitiotis, 2010). Also, this implies that an innovation strategy, including the elements of the innovation excellence framework, can provide the leadership in Cybercom with a more structured, holistic and strategic way of working.

Moreover, the innovation strategy and innovation excellence framework can benefit by being complemented by other innovation management practices as well to manage the strategy more effectively, for example, an innovation management system (Adams et al., 2006; Dervitiotis, 2010). This indicates that Top Leaders in Cybercom could design an innovation strategy, including effective management practices in order to satisfy the Leaders and Middle Leaders expressed the need for a more systematic way of managing innovation. Hence, this implies that an efficient strategy itself can foster a strategic way of working, instead of Top Leaders potential efforts in

establishing a systematic way of working in order to accomplish the innovation strategy's objectives.

Regarding aligned objectives, Dervitiotis (2010) states the importance of measuring and evaluating the innovation achievement in order to improve in the pursuit of innovation excellence. Regarding the current state of Cybercom, the empirical findings stated that no KPIs on innovation performance existed throughout the organisation. Instead, KPIs for innovation performance on individual performance and specific department level is to some extent being measured, according to most leaders at the Leader level and one leader at the Top Leader level. Thereby, the literature indicates that implementing common objectives by establishing KPIs for the whole organisation could result in accelerating innovation performance and establishing a higher degree of innovation achievement.

Adams et al. (2006) and Dervitiotis (2010) further emphasises the importance of not only doing the right kind of innovation but doing the right kind of innovation right. This amplifies both the effectiveness and efficiency of the innovation process, which calls for ways of measuring and evaluating in order to understand what is effectively and efficiently (Adams et al. 2006). Hence, the literature implies that doing the right kind of innovation right could be facilitated by ensuring accurate measurements to evaluate the innovation process effectiveness. Common organisational KPIs could create a more effective and efficient innovation process by departments as the Innovation Zone department, and Business Advisory department can measure and evaluate common KPIs. Additionally, the implementation of shared KPIs targeting Cybercom's innovation performance instead of the current individual-based KPIs, can in line with literature generate a higher level of visibility and reflectiveness of how innovation is measured, what the outcome is and how to improve the outcome. The innovation strategy, therefore, indicates to benefit from facilitating an iterative approach, where measures are evaluated and improved, and KPIs are standardised.

5.3.3 Leadership capabilities

Innovation and creativity are of high value for business models today (Koch, 2014). The leader's capability in supporting the organisational context and fostering innovation are of great importance (Gumusluoğlu & Ilsev, 2009; Rousseau et al., 2013). In contrast, Middle Leader 2 expressed that Cybercom's organisation and its leadership are not capable of managing innovation. This because the organisation and the IT-consultancy industry have focused on selling resources, not developing innovation internally. The focus on occupancy-levels and short-term results have hence resulted in low leadership capabilities to manage innovation. Leaders represented at all leadership levels expressed that the organisation is currently in a paradigm shift, moving from providing customers with resources by resource-based consulting to designing projects and products presented to customers by asset-based consulting. Accordingly, managing innovation effectively will be vital

in gaining competitive advantages and sustain and increasing the market shares in the current paradigm shift in the IT-consultancy industry (Christensen, 2013).

Furthermore, the literature implies that leadership capabilities are essential to foster innovation. Thereby, investments in increased leadership capabilities can be needed in order for Cybercom to foster innovation. Leaders represented at all leadership levels expressed that the focus is on allocating resources effectively to support customers in their processes. This further implies that the transformation to asset-based consulting demands new leadership capabilities to be developed. Otherwise, the leadership in Cybercom may not have the accurate leadership capabilities to foster innovation or survive the paradigm shift due to obsolete leadership capabilities (Gumusluoğlu & Ilsev, 2009; Rousseau et al., 2013; Christensen, 2013). The Top Leaders can, therefore, acknowledge the need to invest in leadership capabilities to manage innovation, and potentially transform the leadership's capability in designing innovative projects and products. Also, the Top Leaders expressed to understand the benefits of managing this transformation successfully. However, the effects of investing in increased leadership capabilities for managing innovation and organisational alignment can require time. This implies that the time between investments and a successful transformation can be the differences between gaining competitive advantages or being disrupted away (Tidd et al., 2005; Christensen, 2013). Therefore, the literature and Leaders indicates that investments in leadership capabilities are necessary for future survival, hence should not be ignored or postponed.

Furthermore, investing in increased leaderships capabilities for innovation has to be managed in a structured and streamlined process (Dervitiotis, 2010). Thus, approaching the innovation excellence framework can provide the organisation with a tool for managing innovation capabilities. Adams et al. (2006) present six innovation capabilities and Dervitsiotis (2010) eight innovation capabilities to focus on targeting innovation excellence. Both Adams et al. (2006) and Dervitsiotis (2010) state leadership capability as one vital innovation capability. Thereby, the literature indicates how Cybercom's Top Leaders can approach the development of innovation capabilities, and other vital capabilities for innovation, in structured and standardised practice. Managing the innovation capabilities effectively will increase the organisation's capability for achieving innovation excellence and thereby, great innovation achievements (Adams et al., 2006; Dervitsiotis, 2010). Top Leaders, in collaboration with leaders at the Leader level and Middle Leader level, can hence be supported in identifying and analysing existing levels of innovation capabilities, hence determine how to allocate investments efficiently. Thereby, in line with the literature, applying the established standard for managing the innovation capabilities can provide the organisation with an efficient framework to transform to asset-based consulting and increase the possibility of gaining competitive advantages (Tidd et al., 2005; Christensen, 2013).

Moreover, the organisation's leadership are stated to be influential in developing new ideas. However, the expressed challenge is to realise the ideas into innovation successfully. The leadership identified several leadership capabilities as areas of improvement, to effectively realise the ideas/inventions and achieving successful innovation. Examples of these capabilities expressed by leaders represented all leadership levels was openness to innovation, understanding of innovation, storytelling, how to design and establish an entrepreneurial context and Lean start-up. This indicates that Cybercom's leadership are aware of specific competencies to develop to increase leadership capabilities. Many of the leadership capabilities presented as areas of improvements above are fundamental for managing innovation; for example, leaders' openness and understanding of innovation (Karlsson & Magnusson, 2019). Therefore, in line with the literature, the understanding of, and openness to innovation is one vital area of improvement to address to increase the leadership capabilities. However, it is essential to address that leadership is one of several vital innovation capabilities (Table 3) which has to be invested in simultaneously in order generate an aggregated innovation capability for the organisation (Dervitsiotis, 2010). Hence, in line with the literature, to develop leadership's capabilities in manage openness and understanding of innovation is not enough to achieve successful innovation (Adams et al., 2006; Dervitsiotis, 2010; Boston Consulting Group, 2008, 2009; McKinsey Quarterly, 2008, 2009). The innovation capabilities presented in Table 3 are more comprehensive, and will also require innovation results to strive for, measure and improve to achieve innovation excellence (Adams et al., 2006; Dervitsiotis, 2010). Also, to ensure the development of relevant leadership capabilities, amongst other innovation capabilities, implies to result in diminished biases as a misunderstanding of the difference between invention and innovation, increased collective efforts, and hence increased organisational performance.

Successful innovation is only successful if it is introduced to the market and returning investments made into the development of the innovation (Burley, 1996; Hakkarainen & Talonen, 2004). Therefore, this indicates that it is fundamental for an organisation to ensure strong innovation capabilities in being capable of manage and understand innovation successfully. Although, possessing innovation capabilities requires efficient innovation results to strive for to achieve innovation excellence (Adams et al., 2006; Dervitsiotis, 2010; Boston Consulting Group, 2008, 2009; McKinsey Quarterly, 2008, 2009). Hence, innovation excellence is reached by establishing efficient innovation capabilities and innovation results. Therefore, the leadership capabilities should be developed to manage the organisation's innovation capabilities effectively and increase the innovation results. Besides, the leadership have to be capable of evaluating the outcome of the innovation results and adjust the innovation results accordingly (Adams et al., 2006). Thus, it indicates that it is of great importance for all leadership levels to develop relevantly and act upon insufficient leadership capabilities in order to facilitate relevant leadership capabilities for innovation management. If not investing in relevant leadership capabilities, it could constitute one great barrier for organisational alignment, which is difficult to overcome (Beer et al., 2005). Consequently, this indicates that the innovation excellence framework can function as an instrument for the organisation to validate existing leadership capabilities continuously, and to follow up on investments effectiveness in developing relevant leadership capabilities.

5.3.4 Common understanding

Nissen (2018) describes that the consulting industry is facing considerable challenges as their business environment is rapidly becoming more competitive, both due to the increasing digitalisation, but also due to changes and growing requirements from the customers. Parakala (2015) claim how the playing field of IT consultancy firms is becoming global, as digitalisation converges IT-consultancy firms' offerings, which makes the industry very exchangeable in terms of price reduction (Nissen, 2015).

Leaders represented at all leadership levels gave indications of being aware of the paradigm shift towards asset-based consulting. Regardless of leadership level, the majority of leaders expressed that technology will increase the competitive environment and change the current way of doing businesses. Although they seemed to be aware of these future challenges, concerns regarding the adaption towards a potential transformation were expressed. Leader 3 mentioned how Cybercom would have difficulty in starting to design and sell services as a business model, as it would require innovation capabilities different from today. Leaders at the Leader-level expressed how another mindset has to be developed, and a shared understanding of what value should be targeted in transformation.

Regarding how Dervitiotis (2010) states about innovation excellence, one vital part is the ability of management to communicate the meaning of innovation and how it has to be separated from the term of quality to the organisation. The term quality refers to the organisation's current capacity to generate value for stakeholders with already existing products and business models (Dervitioits, 2010), it can be discussed to relate to the traditional resource-based consulting.

Instead, this indicates that the leadership in Cybercom should focus on how Dervitioits (2010) explains innovation in the implementation of innovation excellence. Dervitiotis (2010) distinguishes innovation as the organisation's inherent capability to generate new value propositions for stakeholders. Thus, gives indications of being highly relevant for Cybercom since Dervitioitis (2010), following Adams et al. (2006), states how this is essential in rapidly changing times where the value provided by existing offerings are being less attractive by customers. To further elaborate, based on empirical findings, leaders represented at all Leadership levels in Cybercom need to generate a common understanding throughout the organisation regarding the challenges of the transformation towards asset-based consulting. In contrast, the understanding of how Dervitioits (2010) describes how innovation has to be understood as the generation of new value propositions should constitute the first step. Leaders have established a shared understanding and a shared view of how the industry will evolve. However, it is further necessary to create a shared understanding of what is required to succeed in these new circumstances. Adams et al. (2006) discuss how the firm's innovation capability is dependent on its innovation system variables, and further dependent on the innovation enablers presented as innovation capabilities in Table 3. Adams et al. (2006) stated how these innovation enablers first need to be identified.
However, what could be implied is that Adams et al. (2006) misses that developing a fundamental understanding of why these innovation capabilities are needed will further enhance the identification of them. Thus, this indicates that establishing an understanding of why and what value these enablers bring should be ensured before settling them to enhance the innovation process.

Additionally, as the innovation capabilities need to be understood before enabling identification of them, the same counts for a common understanding regarding why to measure innovation results. Since Cybercom are aiming to enhance work with innovation not only at the organisational level but also locally, this indicates a need for a standard way of measuring core results in the innovation process. Following Adams et al. (2006), a broader framework constituted as a guide could align how the local offices measure their progress. This indicates that a more systematic way of improving innovation processes across the organisation can be envisaged, and leaders at all levels will be able to make decisions based on data rather than guessing projections. However, as the same understanding of the value of innovation results is required, it may indicate how the same understanding of measuring innovation results is equally important. This indicates that the leader's ability in Cybercom to understand why and what factors to measure can eliminate time loss in measuring the wrong things

Consequently, this gives indications of the need for a common framework for innovation management that allows the organisation to have a common understanding of why innovation capabilities and innovation results are of value to the organisation. The presented framework of innovation excellence (Dervitiotis, 2010) and reflections made by Adams et al. (2006) indicate to constitute a potential solution for aligning the understanding throughout the organisation. Such a centralised framework could benefit Cybercom's establishment of innovation capabilities and innovation results. It also provides indications of increasing the level of maturity in order to understand innovation and thereby improve the achievement of successful innovation.

5.4 Customer centric approach

5.4.1 Systematic way of working

The legacy of the IT-consultancy industry has resulted in Cybercom focusing more on providing resources to the customer rather than developing assets that the customer wants to utilise. Hence, the empirical findings showed how providing customers with resources resulted in the way of working to be more focused on time, competencies and money. Results in Cybercom are more focused on short-term efficiency and occupancy-levels than managing innovation internally and systematically. Consequently, as the IT-consultancy industry is transforming from the traditional way of working (Nissen, 2018), being close to the customer has never been more critical (Parakala, 2015). Consequently, organisations capability to manage and identify customer's needs and further being capable of satisfying customer's needs is determining the competitiveness of IT-consultancy

firms (Piller et al., 2011). All leadership levels expressed the importance of increasing and managing a customer-centric approach. However, leaders at the Leader-level expressed different ways of working for managing a customer-centric approach. Leader 1 identified a procedure of including customers earlier in the internal projects; Leader 2 identified a need of better match projects and customers and Leader 4 identified the challenge of aligning Cybercom's and customer's visions and short-term requirements. Consequently, this indicates that the problems for establishing an efficient customer-centric process are many. This is further complicated as all leadership levels not are aligned in how to work efficiently in managing an efficient customer-centric process.

A more organisational perspective was expressed by leaders at the Top Leader-level, regarding how a customer-centric approach requires a systematic way of working and the organisation has to focus on generating long term value in its processes, instead of short-term returns. Thus, this indicates that by using the innovation framework for innovation it can enable the organisation to identify innovation capabilities and results, which are validated and supported by a customercentric process. This to continually increase the organisation innovation capabilities in managing the customers efficiently. Being capable of measuring and evaluating the results of these actions indicates to improve the organisation's innovation capabilities to deliver innovative results in a more customer-centric process and with a long-term perspective.

Furthermore, the customer-centricity approach is about to consider the customers as individuals. The main operational goal is to deliver unique value to each customer. Hence, a systematic and common way of working to satisfy customers' need in an efficient customer-centric process indicates to generate innovative solutions (Piller et al., 2011). The innovative solutions can be a direct consequence of organisations' effort in identifying a solution to the customer's expressed need (Piller et al., 2011). However, an organisation with an established efficient customer-centric innovation process can recognise customer's needs before the customers have recognised the need themselves (Nissen, 2018). Thus, this indicates how it is of great importance that leaders closest to the innovation development validate the customer need continuously. If not, the innovation may never be realised nor successfully, which can result in organisational investments made into an invention and is more likely not generating any return on investment.

Consequently, efficient solutions for all leadership levels indicate to exploit internal assets, partner up with customers, dividing the risks of specific projects (competencies, time and money), and together in a systemised process develop solutions following real needs (or validated future need). By further analysing, a systemised way of working indicates to decrease the risks of customers having unrealistic visions and short-term returns in mind when paying the organisation for resources. Leaders at the Top-level and Middle level expressed concerns regarding this risk and the potential outcome of developing obsolete competencies and other assets. This because customers are paying for resources to fulfil their unrealistic visions, and thus rarely pay for realised or successful innovations. This could be related to the transformation to asset-based consulting, where the organisation can develop assets to support the customers in a systematic way of working, instead of the current resource-based consulting, where customers hire the organisation's resources to perform their visions in specified assignments.

5.4.2 Strategy

Keeping the customer close during the innovation process is expressed to be understood by all leadership levels. Additionally, the value of involving customers earlier in projects and sustain a close interactive relationship throughout the process, as well as after the launch of the innovation, was expressed to be less understood. According to Piller et al. (2011), innovation management should include a systematic and iterative customer-centricity approach as it validates the intended value before the development of the product has started. It enables the organisation to keep the customer close during all stages of development, which allows for feedback and evaluation, essential to ensure that the value is not set aside. By sustaining the relationship after the product is delivered, insights and evaluation of later issues or possibilities can allow for further development, and new projects can emerge. Piller et al. (2011) also discussed how customer-centricity could be applied on different organisational levels, depending on the intended purpose. A customer-centric approach at the strategical level can foster orientation and the mindset of employees to be more open and share interdependencies and values with customers over the long-term (Piller et al., 2011). Applying customer-centricity at a strategical level at Cybercom indicates to make the organisation closer to the customer and thereby become more aware of customers context. This would enable a deeper understanding of the customer, which simplifies the identification of their potential needs. Accordingly, after analysing the literature in comparison with the empirical findings, the tactical level presented by Pine (1993) indicates to be more appropriate for Cybercom's challenge in transforming into asset-based consulting. Customer-centricity at the tactical level means that Cybercom should focus on aligning their activities and processes with their customers' convenience instead of focusing on the convenience of their operations (Pine, 1993).

The tactical level indicates support to prevent the issue expressed by leaders at the Leader-level, where projects have been developed with no customer validation until later in the process. Due to the lack of customer involvement and too much focus on the convenience of operations, it showed how the product, in the end, did not generate any perceived value for the customer. This also indicates the importance of balancing customer involvement and Cybercom's own beliefs. To manage the balance, it could be implied that Cybercom has to include customer-centricity in innovation- strategies and objectives, but also establish strategy and goals on how to work with customer-centricity in innovation management. According to leaders at the Top-level, customers sometimes find it difficult to see the long-term value. Consequently, this indicates how Cybercom, as the provider, has to believe in their competencies and avoid being affected by customers, strive for short-term satisfaction. Still, to avoid time waste, it can be discussed that close interactions

with the customer are essential to ensure alignment between customers intended value and development by the organisation.

In this case, it can be implied how Cybercom would benefit from customer-centricity at the tactical level. It could also be discussed how the organisation currently does this to some extent. However, as the issue expressed by top leaders still occurs, an expressed need for alignment of current innovation processes and activities indicates to be even more directed towards the convenience and necessity of the customer.

5.4.3 Leadership capabilities

The paradigm shift in the IT-consultancy industry requires new leadership capabilities (Parakala, 2015). The innovation development inside organisations will become vital to obtain future competitiveness (Nissen, 2018). Consequently, managing new business models, innovation management, and customer-centric processes are examples where new leadership capabilities have to be developed in order to maintain competitive advantages (Nissen, 2018). The majority of leaders at all leadership levels stressed the importance of working close to the customers because of the organisation's dependency on serving customer's need. However, the transformation to asset-based consulting will require new business models where new internal assets are designed and provided to customers differently (Nissen, 2018). Thus, it can be implied that instead of serving the customer's expressed need inside their organisations, Cybercom's in-house assets can be developed internally with the customer. The assets can thus be validated iteratively by customers and owned wholly or partly by Cybercom. This could indicate that the finalised solution/asset can, after that, fulfil the customer's specific need and simultaneously be scalable to meet several customer's needs. Therefore, it could be interpreted how the transformation in the IT-industry will require different leadership capabilities in managing a new customer-centric innovation process. For example, this indicates that leaders at all leadership levels will have to develop skills in managing innovative solutions internally, identifying how current needs can be satisfied in a customer-centric process.

Moreover, some of the current capabilities at the leadership levels are focused on managing resources to fulfil customers specifications. In comparison with literature, identifying a value for a solution indicates to be the first thing led by leaders, not identifying accurate resources to satisfy customer specification (Nissen, 2018; Piller et al., 2011; Parakala, 2015). If no value can be determined, the solution cannot be defined as innovation (Hakkarainen & Talonen, 2004). Therefore, to manage innovation effectively, leadership capabilities in identifying a value for customers has to be ensured regardless of leadership level. Consequently, if leaders are not capable of detecting a value for customers, it may indicate how the organisation will not be capable of managing to innovate solutions (Hakkarainen & Talonen, 2004).

Identifying unique value for each customer can only be obtained by working close to the customer from the very beginning (Piller et al. (2011). Hence, managing innovation can be conducted efficiently by ensuring a customer-centric process, where a customer validates the value in each new process. However, expressed by leaders at the Top Leader-level, leaders stressed the importance of balancing the customer's visions and intentions with the organisation's competence. The leaders exemplified how customers can ask the organisation to develop unrealistic visions with short-term perspectives and needs. Consequently, this indicates that all leadership levels need to be capable of understanding the importance of identifying the value and listen to the customers. Additionally, it also indicates how they have to be capable of managing innovative solutions effectively to turn unrealistic visions and short-term perspectives to realistic visions long-term perspectives. This because both the organisation and the customer will gain from successful innovative solutions and competitive advantages in a long-term view, then un-realised short-term visions.

5.4.4 Common understanding

As mentioned in the previous section, Cybercom's legacy of the classic resource-based consulting approach enhances the risk of developing their competence following customers vision, even if the customer's visions are unrealistic and not validated on the market. This could end in Cybercom developing inaccurate competencies, which can be a costly and time-consuming process, resulting in an obsolete business model (Christensen, 2013).

By analysing theory and empirical findings, it can be discussed how increasing common understanding of customer-centricity in innovation management can be essential to achieve successful innovation and thereby enhance the transformation to asset-based consulting. Piller et al. (2011) and Pine (1993) states the importance of implementing a customer-centric approach, by analysing the empirical findings it became evident that these theories miss the importance of creating a shared understanding of customer-centricity before implementation. This indicates that Cybercom has to ensure the establishment of a shared understanding of customer-centricity before it can be applied. This to provide employees with the competence of why and how to work close to customers.

Consequently, if Cybercom can include customer-centricity earlier in their development of inventions, the invention can be validated by the customer iteratively throughout the process, and thus be developed following existing customer demand. Defined by the authors of this study and supported by Hakkarainen & Talonen (2004) and Steven & Burley (1996), to fulfil the condition of successful innovation, an invention has to be commercialised, return investments and indicate for future profits. By involving the customer from the beginning of a project and iteratively validating the progress, it can indicate how the invention faces a higher probability of being

commercialised and further successful, thus giving indications of higher chances of successful innovation.

Another critical aspect considering Cybercom's capability to prosper in the current paradigm shift is the understanding of balancing customer-centricity. Three main factors could be identified as easy to understand while talking about customer-centricity. The three factors identified was competence, time and money. Leaders represented at all leadership levels in Cybercom have to communicate to employees why a customer-centricity approach is beneficial and to some extent, essential. These three factors are interpreted to be easy to understand while explaining the essentialness of customer-centricity. By demonstrating scenarios, where the customer are not included in the process, can be a waste of time and waste of money, as the development without customer participation increases the probability of unsatisfied delivery. Consequently, involving the customer too much can instead lead to how competencies of employees are not fully optimised and thus prevent organisational learning.

Thus, this indicates how long-term investments in developing new innovative- products and competences by following customers need can enhance innovation management in Cybercom. Additionally, further indications of a shared understanding of approaching customer-centricity successful are vital and can be understood by evaluating time, money and competence.

6. Conclusion

The conclusion aims to answer the study's research question and thereby fulfil the overall purpose. First, a short background to answer the research question will be presented. Second, the research question will be answered. Thirdly, a conceptualization together with a more extensive answer will give further support in answering the research question.

6.1 Background to answering the research question

Before each interview, all leaders were introduced to the author's definition of successful innovation and the innovation management concepts: i) innovation excellence ii) innovation management systems iii) common way of measuring iiii) customer-centricity iiiii) asset-based consulting. The thematic analysis resulted in the empirical findings and the four themes which is applied throughout this study: i) a systematic way of working ii) leadership capabilities iii) strategy iiii) common understanding.

The analysis model (Table 8) targets to identify connections between the theoretical framework and the empirical findings, which the study's analysis is derived from. Subsequently, the conclusion is the result of the analysis based on the theoretical framework and the empirical findings, in the strive to answer the study's research question, and thereby fulfil the overall purpose.

6.2 Answering the research question

The purpose of this study is to explore effective innovation management practices from a leadership perspective in an IT-consultancy organisation. This is managed by initiating a case study at the IT-consultancy firm Cybercom. Based on the purpose of this study, the following research question was formulated:

What is considered as effective innovation management practices from a leadership perspective in an IT-consultancy firm?

The answer to this study's research question is that several intertwined processes and concepts manage effective innovation management practices. Hence, establishing one innovation management practice managed at one leadership level is not enough to manage innovation as effectively as possible. However, this study confirms previous research that the achievement of effective innovation management practices can be supported by a standardised and iterative process to manage innovation, that is an innovation management system entails to be central for effective innovation management practices. Additionally, the findings of this study indicate that the innovation management practices by introducing the complementary practices i) investing in

innovation capabilities ii) ensure accurate innovation results iii) facilitate a customer-centric approach iiii) measuring and evaluating to improve.

Combining above innovation management practices indicates to provide an organisation with an iterative and effective system that supports the leadership in developing the innovation capabilities to strive for, evaluate and pivot the innovation results accurately. Likewise, the innovation management practices imply to be streamlined by an increased customer-centricity approach, where the customer-centricity approach is iteratively evaluating the rewards and drawbacks by the factors: i) time ii) competence iii) money.

The leadership are central in managing effective innovation management practices. Hence, the leadership perspective is essential to analyse. This study has applied three leadership levels: i) Leaders ii) Middle Leader iii) Top Leaders. The results from this study demonstrate that different leadership levels have different levels of mandate to influence the innovation management practices, and collaborative efforts between the leadership levels imply to benefit the effectiveness of the innovation performance. Increasing the effectiveness of the innovation performance can thereby result in increased probability for successful innovation and hence increase the organisational performance.

Additionally, the Top Leaders implies to possess a more significant mandate to influence the innovation management process and are therefore central in facilitating change and implement more useful structures. For instance, this study identified that the Leader-level and the Middle Leader-level expressed a great willingness to improve innovation capabilities and manage innovation more effectively. The Top-Level are the leaders who have to facilitate this change and can implement new structures.

Furthermore, to support collaborative efforts and productive structures, this study indicates that an innovation strategy is fundamental to enable more effective innovation management process. Hence, an innovation strategy can be the enabler for a more effective innovation management process, but also central in supporting an IT-consultancy firm in the current paradigm shift. Development of effective innovation management practices can consequently be related to strengthening the IT-consultancy firm's market position. If the development of effective innovation management practices is not managed effectively, it can result in obsolete competencies.

To conclude, this study implies that increasing the effectiveness of innovation management can be managed by complementary and centralised innovation management practices (Figure 5). The conceptual model includes effective innovation management practices which support the development of innovation capabilities, the possibility to measure, evaluate and improve innovation results and facilitate a more effective customer-centric innovation process.

The conceptual model (Figure 5) implies to provide the IT-consultancy firm with a holistic perspective and streamlined innovation management practices from Top Leaders to Middle Leaders and Leaders. Thus, it indicates to enable practices to manage local offices and departments more effectively. The conceptual model further implies to decrease the existing silos between offices and departments, contributing to shared objectives and foster a common way of working with managing innovation.

6.3 Conceptualising effective innovation management practices

This section will fulfil the research question and purpose with a deeper understanding of the interrelation of effective innovation management practices identified in this study. The conceptual model (Figure 5) is directed to consolidate the identified effective innovation management practices to provide a more holistic answer to this study's research question. Moreover, the conceptual model (Figure 5) aims to clarify the interrelations between and understanding of the presented effective practices to manage innovation. Thus, the conceptual model (Figure 5) can contribute to already existing research on the topic of innovation management.

The outer dotted line defines the organisation's context. The line is dotted because of the organisational context's necessity of being externally influenced, both in identifying new opportunities and providing the external environment with successful innovation. The next, inner circle represents the complementary and organisation-wide innovation management practices. This circle contains effective innovation management practices identified by this study. All the blue boxes and circles inside the innovation management practices-circle represent one specific concept of identified effective innovation management practices: i) innovation capabilities ii) customer-centricity iii) innovation management system iiii) measuring and evaluating iiiii) innovation results.

Moreover, the arrow from opportunities intent into the innovation management practices-circle represents the organisations opportunity indent, to identify and acknowledge new ideas in the external environment. The organisation, by its leadership, can thereby influence the innovation management practices that facilitate the innovation process by inspiration from the external context. The inspiration does counter some level of friction while it is introduced to the innovation capabilities. The innovation capabilities of the organisation are the difference between the inspiration by the external context will be further explored or not.

Based on the theoretical framework, the empirical findings and the analysis, this study implies that lacking a holistic approach to managing innovation can be a consequence of the organisation's inadequate ability to ensure innovation capabilities. This indicates that Top Leaders in an organisation has to ensure innovation capabilities to enhance effective innovation management practices. This study further focuses on four innovation capabilities (Table 4), which represents the innovation capabilities in the conceptual model (Figure 5). The arrow between the innovation

capabilities and the innovation management system illustrates the iterative process between the practices. If the innovation capabilities not are optimised or improved to manage the innovation management system, the arrow indicates that the leader will have to pivot and increase the innovation capabilities to be able to manage the innovation management system more effectively.

Leadership's capability to identify and strengthen areas of improvements can be improved by effective practices and thereby increase the effectiveness in the innovation process. The double-sided arrows present the iterative process between the innovation management system and the innovation capabilities and innovation results. The double-sided arrows thereby symbolise the leadership process of evaluating and improving the innovation results and identifying and developing innovation capabilities accurately, both concerning enhancing the effectiveness of the standardised innovation management system.

The curved arrows symbolise the importance of the interwovenness of the four practices jointly weight to influence the innovation management system to become more effective. The conceptual model further implies the importance of the customer-centricity approach for the leadership in an IT-consultancy firm. This study demonstrates that a customer-centric approach can be applied to increase the effectiveness of managing innovation by reflecting on the reward and loss in terms of the factors i) time ii) competence iii) money. Hence, an increased customer-centric process has to be managed effectively regarding the above factors, or the loss can be higher than the reward.

To increase a customer-centricity approach by introducing more customers, earlier in the organisation's innovation process, is implied by this study to increase the possibility for successful innovation. This because the customers have the power to validate the need and hence contribute to an organisation's innovation process can be managed more effectively and successfully. Moreover, a customer-centric approach provides the conditions for an organisation to educate itself, which indicates to be advantageous in the transformation to asset-based-consulting. This because an organisation thereby can establish the prerequisites to transform from fulfilling customers specifications to get the understanding of the new need of new value propositions – to designing projects and innovative solutions/products for customers instead. This knowledge-sharing between an organisation and its customers can further be advantageous for all parts, especially for an IT-consultancy firm and its current transformation.

Furthermore, measuring and evaluating practices should be applied throughout the innovation process. The two double-sided arrows demonstrate the importance of the iterative process between establishing metrics, evaluated and improve the metrics managed in the process set by the innovation management system. This further illustrates that the progress and performance within the centralised innovation management system should be continuously evaluated and measured in order to avoid waste of resources and to establish continuous improvement. Also, the iterative

process of measure and evaluate the four innovation management practices in the boxes, are determined by the in the circular arrows that link all four practices.

To be capable of balancing an appropriate level of a customer-centric approach, the evaluating and measuring process can focus on analyse the outcome of the previously specified factors i) time ii) competence iii) money. Measuring and evaluating an organisations innovation activity can support the organisation to visualise the process of innovation more holistically. Leaders capabilities in communicating the measurements across the organisation could foster a common perspective of an organisation's innovation management practices effectively or not. Also, a common perspective of an organisation's innovation progress is indicated in this study to foster alignment in the leadership and its effort to manage innovation more effectively.

Lastly, there is an arrow extending from the innovation results to successful innovation, which this study has introduced to be the ultimate goal of the innovation process and its innovation management practices. To reach to successful innovation, this study implies that all previously mentioned innovation management practices must be managed successfully and simultaneously. Increasing the effectiveness of the innovation management process by enabling certain practices, can leverage an organisations progress to achieve successful innovation.



Figure 5 – Conceptual model of the conclusion, designed by authors

7. Practical recommendations for Cybercom

This section will provide practical recommendations directed to the case-study company Cybercom. The recommendations are derived from the study's conclusion and focus on practical steps to guide the leadership in the case-company to manage innovation more effectively.

7.1 practical recommendations

Given the case-study, the authors have three main recommendations for Cybercom. These recommendations are based on the context where the IT-consultancy industry have to effectively manage the current transformation from resource-based consulting to asset-based consulting to stay relevant. As a result, it is vital to empower and invest in effective structures that foster organisational capabilities that provide customers with innovative and attractive offerings and simultaneously give the organisation competitive advantages and prosperity.

The authors have concluded three main recommendations from this study. The recommendations are:

First, establishing effective innovation management practices should be primary in Cybercom's strategy. This because the implementation of effective innovation management practices can enable a collaborative environment, common understand and decrease silo practices. Moreover, it can provide prerequisites for transforming to asset-based consulting and overall prosperity.

Secondly, Top Leaders mandate and commitment to innovation are fundamental for Leaders and Middle Leaders to practice innovation management effectively. Hence the Top Leaders stated focus on increasing innovation practices has to be realised. Not at least, Top Leaders can apply their decision-making mandate in managing innovation to invest in leadership capabilities. This indicates to be fundamental in establishing effective innovation management practices. Also, the willingness to invest in innovation should be strong because of innovation's vital role in the organisation's future prosperity.

Lastly, establishing innovation management practices in a centralised practice can provide the organisation with a holistic perspective in managing standardised innovation practices. Also, introducing several innovation management practices can mutually reinforce effectiveness. The conceptual model of effective centralised innovation management practices (Figure 5) is, therefore, what this study has implied as mutual effectiveness.

8. Further research

Innovation management is not a new phenomenon. Nevertheless, innovations are continuously emerging as the human mind, with technology as an enabler continuously identify new opportunities and realise these to successful innovations. Therefore, to facilitate and manage future innovations will be a continuous challenge, which leaves an enormous room for future research to be applied.

The authors of this study have only focused on the IT-consultancy industry, which leaves room for other industries to be studied. Also, this study is limited to an internal perspective and does not implement any customer perspective or benchmark due to time constraints. Thereby studying the IT-consultancy industry more broadly, together with an external perspective of the customers or a benchmark is interesting.

Furthermore, this study has performed interviews of the leadership in one specific IT-consultancy firm. It would, therefore, be engaging with further research of study the IT-consultancy industry in general and draw a more generalisable conclusion from it. The analysis model used in this study could be applied in a broader context and potentially generate more extensive answers on how to manage innovation more effectively. Applying the analysis model in a broader context can further enhance existing literature on the subject of innovation management.

Lastly, the theme collaboration and communication generated from the thematic analysis in this study was decided not to be studied. The decision was grounded based on that the theme was outside the authors intended subject to explore, thus considered as too time-consuming to investigate further. However, based on the empirical findings, collaboration and communication are expressed to be two influencing factors of how the leadership managing innovation management effectively. Therefore, it would be interesting for further research to investigate to what extent effective innovation management is affected by the level of collaboration and the degree of communication within organisations.

References

Adams, R., Bessant, J., & Phelps, R. (2006). Innovation management measurement: *A review*. *International Journal of Management Reviews*, *8*, 21–47.

Akao, Y. (1990). Quality function deployment: Integrating customer requirements into product design. Cambridge, MA: Productivity Press.

Allen, R. C. (1983). "Collective invention." In: *Journal of Economic Behavior and Organization*, 4(1), 1-24.

Baregheh, A., Rowley, J., & Sambrook, S. (2009). Towards a multidisciplinary definition of innovation. *Management decision*.

Basoglu, N., Daim, T., Dogan, A., Taskin, F. and Gomez, F. (2013), 'Exploring the impact of communication on innovation', *Int. J. Business Information Systems, vol. 13, no.1*, pp. 70-90.

Beer, M., Voelpel, S., Leibold, M., & Tekie, E. (2005). Strategic Management as Organizational Learning. *Long Range Planning*, *38*(5), 445-465.

Bell, E., Bryman, A., & Harley, B. (2019). Business Research Methods (Vol. 5).

Berthon, P. R., Pitt, L. F., McCarthy, I. and Kates, S. M. (2007). "When customers get clever: Managerial approaches to dealing with creative consumers." In: Business Horizons, 50(1), 39-47.

Birkinshaw, J., G. Hamel and M. J. Mol, 2008, "Management innovation". Academy of Management Review, 33: 825-845.

Boston Consulting Group (2008, 2009). Senior executive annual innovation survey.

Brady, N. (2004). In search of market orientation. Marketing Intelligence & Planning.

Brown, J. S. and Eisenhardt, K. M. (1995). "Product Development: Past Research, Present Findings, and Future Directions." In: *The Academy of Management Review*, 20(2), 343-378.

Bryman, A. and Bell, E. (2011), Business research methods, Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Burgelman, R., Maidique, M.A., Wheelwright, S.C., 2004. *Strategic Management of Technology and Innovation*. McGraw-Hill, New York.

Carayannis, E., & Sagi, J. (2001). "New" vs."old" economy: insights on competitiveness in the global IT industry. *Technovation*, *21*(8), 501-514.

Carmeli, A., Gelbard, R. & Gefen, D., 2010. The importance of innovation leadership in cultivating strategic fit and enhancing firm performance. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 21(3), pp.339–349.

Caloghirou, Y., Kastelli, I. and Tsakanikas, A. (2004). "Internal capabilities and external knowledge sources: Complements or substitutes for innovative performance?" In: *Technovation*, 24(1), 29-39.

Cassiman, B. and Veugelers, R. (2006). "In search of complementarity in innovation strategy: internal r&d and external knowledge acquisition." In: *Management Science*, *52(1)*, 68-82.

CEN. (2013), 'Innovation Management - Part 1: Innovation Management System', European Committee for Standardization, CEN/TS 16555-1.

Chen, J. Brem, A. Eric, V. & Wong, P. K. The Routledge Companion to Innovation Management. London: Routledge.

Christensen, C. M. (2013). *The innovator's dilemma: when new technologies cause great firms to fail*. Harvard Business Review Press.

Christensen, C. (1999). The innovator's dilemma. Boston, MA: Harvard Business School Press.

Chesbrough, H. W. (2006). "Open Innovation: A new paradigm for understanding industrial innovation." In: *H. W. Chesbrough, W. Vanhaverbeke and J. West (Eds.), Open innovation: Researching a new paradigm.* Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1-12.

Chesbrough, H.W. (2003), 'The era of open innovation', *MIT Sloan Management Review, vol. 44, no.3,* pp. 35-41.

Cooper, R. (1990). Stage-gate systems: a new tool for managing new products. *Business horizons* 33(3), 44-54.

Crabtree, B. F., & Miller, W. L. (Eds.). (1999). Doing qualitative research. sage publications.

Czarnitzki, D., & Kraft, K. (2004). Management control and innovative activity. *Review of Industrial Organization*, 24(1), 1-24.

Dahan, E. and Hauser, J. R. (2002). "The virtual customer." In: Journal of Product Innovation Management, 19(5), 332-353.

Dahlmanns A (2013) Generation Y and personnel management. *Practice-oriented personnel- and organization research*. Rainer Hampp, Mering.

Daft, R. L., & Becker, S. W. (1978). *The innovative organization: Innovation adoption in school organizations*. North Holland.

Dervitsiotis, K. (2008). Guiding human organizations to climb the stages of spiral of performance improvements. *Total Quality Management & Business Excellence, 19*, 709–719.

Dervitsiotis, K. N. (2010). A framework for the assessment of an organisation's innovation excellence. *Total Quality Management*, 21(9), 903-918.

Drucker, P. (1985). Innovation and entrepreneurship. London: Heinemann.

Dubois, A. and Gadde, L.-E. (2002). "Systematic combining: an abductive approach to case research." In: *Journal of Business Research 55(7):* 553-560.

Dubois, A., & Gadde, L. E. (2014). "Systematic combining"—A decade later. *Journal of Business Research*, 67(6), 1277-1284.

Du Preez, N.D. and Louw, L. (2008) "A framework for managing the innovation process," *Portland International Conference on Management of Engineering & Technology*, pp. 546-558.

El Bassiti, L., & Ajhoun, R. (2016). Continuous Performance Improvement of Innovation: Bridging the Gap between Creativity and Measurement. In *Proceedings of the 28th International Business Information Management Conference (IBIMA)* (pp. 4248-4262).

Geroski, P., S. Machin and J. Van Reenen. (1993) "The profitability of innovating firms". *The RAND Journal of Economics*, 24: 198–211.

Goodman, P. S., & Haisley, E. (2007). Social comparison processes in an organizational context: New directions. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, *102*(1), 109-125.

Gumusluoglu, L. & Ilsev, A., 2009. Transformational leadership, creativity, and organizational innovation. Journal of Business Research, 62(4), pp.461–473.

Grant, R. M. (1991). The resource-based theory of competitive advantage: implications for strategy formulation. *California management review*, 33(3), 114-135.

Hakkarainen, K., & Talonen, T. (2014). The innovation funnel fallacy. *International Journal of Innovation Science*.

Hall, B. (2000) "Innovation and market value". In R. Barro, G. Mason, M. O'Mahoney (eds.), *Productivity, innovation and economic performance*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 177–198.

Hamel, G. (2006) "The why, what and how of management innovation". *Harvard Business Review*, 84: 72–84.

Hagel, J. III (2007). Fast strategy. Boston, MA: Harvard Business School Press.

Homburg, C., Workman Jr, J. P., & Jensen, O. (2002). A configurational perspective on key account management. *Journal of marketing*, *66*(2), 38-60.

Karlsson, M., & Magnusson, M. (2019). 5 The Systems Approach to Innovation Management. In *The Routledge Companion to Innovation Management*. Taylor & Francis.

Kanji, G.K. (2002). Measuring business excellence. London: Routledge.

Kozinets, R.V. (1998). "The field behind the screen: using netnography for marketing research in online communities." In: *Journal of Marketing Research*, *39*(*1*), 61-72.

Lawson, B., & Samson, D. (2001). Developing innovation capability in organisations: a dynamic capabilities approach. *International journal of innovation management*, *5*(03), 377-400.

LeCompte, M. D., & Goetz, J. P. (1982). Ethnographic data collection in evaluation research. *Educational evaluation and policy analysis*, 4(3), 387-400.

McKinsey Quarterly. (2008). Assessing innovation metrics: McKinsey global survey results.

McKinsey Quarterly. (2009). McKinsey 2009 survey assessing innovation metrics.

Millman, T., & Wilson, K. (1999). Processual issues in key account management: underpinning the customer-facing organisation. *Journal of Business & Industrial Marketing*.

Mir, M., Casadesús, M., & Petnji, L. H. (2016). The impact of standardized innovation management systems on innovation capability and business performance: An empirical study. *Journal of Engineering and Technology Management*, *41*, 26-44.

Morris, L. L., (2011) The innovation master plan: The CEO's guide to innovation. Walnut Creek, CA: *Innovation Academy*, 2011.

Nelson, R. R and S. G.Winter. (1982) An evolutionary theory of economic change. Cambridge, MA: *Harvard University Press*.

N.E., n.d. Sökord: "ledarskap" https://www-nese.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/uppslagsverk/ordbok/svensk/ledarskap retrieved 2020-05-07

Nissen, V. (Ed.). (2018). *Digital transformation of the consulting industry: extending the traditional delivery model*. Springer.

Nystrom, P., Ramamurthy, K., & Wilson, A. (2002). Organizational context, climate and innovativeness: Adoption of imaging technology. *Journal of Engineering and Technology Management*, 19(3), 221-247.

Nystrom, P. C., Ramamurthy, K., & Wilson, A. L. (2002). Organizational context, climate and innovativeness: adoption of imaging technology. *Journal of engineering and technology management*, 19(3-4), 221-247.

Oxford dictionary, n.d Sökord; "leadership" https://www-oed com.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/view/Entry/106604?redirectedFrom=leadership#eid Retrieved 2020-05-07

Parakala, K. (2015). Global consulting and IT service providers trends, an industry perspective. *Technova, Australia*.

Piller, F., Ihl, Christoph, & Vossen, Alexander. (2011). Customer co-creation open innovation with customers ; a typology of methods for customer co-creation in the innovation process. In *New forms of collaborative innovation and production on the internet* (p. New forms of collaborative innovation on the internet).

Piller, F., Reichwald, R., & Tseng, M. (2006). Competitive advantage through customer centric enterprises. *International Journal of Mass Customization*, 1(2-3), 157-165.

Piller, F.T. and Ihl, C. (2009). "Open Innovation with Customers – Foundations, Competences and International Trends." In: *Expert Study commissioned by the European Union, The German Federal Ministry of Research, and Europäischer Sozialfond ESF*. Published as part of the project "International Monitoring".

Porter, L. W., & McLaughlin, G. B. (2006). Leadership and the organizational context: like the weather?. *The Leadership Quarterly*, *17*(6), 559-576.

Porter, M. (1980), Competitive strategy: Techniques for analyzing industries and competitors, New York: *The Free Press. ch. 2*, pp. 34-46

Rice, G. (2006). Individual values, organizational context, and self-perceptions of employee creativity: Evidence from Egyptian organizations. *Journal of Business Research*, 59(2), 233-241.

Rothmann, W. & Koch, J., 2014. Creativity in strategic lock-ins: The newspaper industry and the digital revolution. *Technological Forecasting & Social Change*, 83(1), pp.66–83.

Rousseau, V., Aubé, C. & Tremblay, S., 2013. Team coaching and innovation in work teams. Leadership & Organization Development Journal, 34(4), pp.344–364.

Seifert, H., & Nissen, V. (2018). Virtualization of consulting services: state of research on digital transformation in consulting and future research demand. In *Digital Transformation of the Consulting Industry* (pp. 61-73). Springer, Cham.

Stevens, G. A., & Burley, J. (1997). 3,000 raw ideas= 1 commercial success!. *Research-Technology Management*, 40(3), 16-27.

Shayne Gary, M. (2005). Implementation strategy and performance outcomes in related diversification. *Strategic Management Journal*, *26*(7), 643-664.

Schumpeter, J. (1934). Capitalism, socialism and democracy. New York: Harper & Row.

Teece, D. J., Pisano, G., & Shuen, A. (1997). Dynamic capabilities and strategic management. *Strategic management journal*, *18*(7), 509-533.

Tidd, J., Pavitt, K. and Bessant, J.R. (2005) Managing innovation: integrating technological, market and organizational change, Hoboken: Wiley.

Tripsas, M. (1997). Unraveling the process of creative destruction: Complementary assets and incumbent survival in the typesetter industry. *Strategic management journal*, *18*(S1), 119-142.

Tseng, M. M., Kjellberg, T. and Lu, S. C. Y. (2003). "Design in the new ecommerce era." In: *CIRP Annals - Manufacturing Technology*, *52*(*2*), 509-519.

Tushman, M. T. and D. Nadler, 1986, "Organizing for Innovation". *California Management Review*, 28: 74–92.

Ulwick, A.W. (2002). "Turn customer input into innovation." In: *Harvard Business Review*, 80(1), 91-97.

Von Hippel, E. (1998). "Economics of product development by users: The impact of 'sticky' local information." In: *Management Science*, 44(5), 629-644.

Von Hippel, E., (2005). Democratizing innovation. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.

Volberda, H. W. and F. A. J. Van den Bosch and J. J. P. Jansen, (2006), Slim management & innovative organisations. Arnhem: Het Financieele Dagblad/Eiffel.

Woodburn, D., & Wilson, K. (2014). *Handbook of Strategic Account Management*. John Wiley & Sons.

Wipulanusat, W.A., Panuwatwanich, K. & Stewart, R.A. (2017). Exploring leadership styles for innovation: An exploratory factor analysis. *Engineering Management in Production and Services*, 9(1), pp.7–17.

Yin, R. K. (2018). Case study research and applications: Design and methods. Sage publications.



GÖTEBORGS UNIVERSITET handelshögskolan

Interview Guide for Master Thesis

Topics:

Innovation Management, Leadership & Successful Commercialized Innovation

Purpose:

Our purpose is to identify good Innovation Management practices from a leader-perspective and analyze how the Innovation Management process is practiced by leaders in an IT-consultancy firm.

Authors definition for Innovation:

The definition the authors will apply for <u>successful innovation</u> is a combination of Hakkarainen & Talonen's (2004) definition of how Innovation has to generate some level of added value together with Stevens & Burley's (1996) definition about how innovation is successfully commercialized when the innovation has accomplished to return its investments.

Hakkarainen & Talonen's, 2014

"Innovation is a term that may refer to a process, an attribute, or an end result. Many confuse innovation with invention. Fire was not invented by humans, but using it as a source of heat and light, and for preparing food, is certainly an innovation."

Stevens & Burley's, 1996

"...not just mean that someone is buying the product or licensing the concept, but that the concept is providing economic profit to the parent company. In other words, the money returned is greater than all the money invested in creating that product, including the cost of capital (both depreciation and opportunity cost), raw materials and manpower used throughout the entire project."

Daniel Eriksson + 46 761 644 775 Contacts

Lukas Bard + 46 734 030 124



2. How do you apply the *Innovation Management System* in your role as a manager? (Not managing role: How does your manager apply the *Innovation Management System* in his/her role as a leader?)

Questions:

- Which leadership factors do you relate to as successful commercialized innovation?
- Which leadership skills can be improved in order to increase the level of successful commercialized innovation?
- Do you use any *Key Performance Indicators (KPI)* on innovation performance? (short term and long-term)?
- Do you believe more or less measures of performance can increase successful commercialized innovation?
- **3.** Would you say that the customers are a vital part of Cybercom's Innovation Management System today?

Questions:

- Do you believe it is important/or not so important to work closely with the customer for a successful innovation outcome?
- Do you believe working close/or not close to the customer has advantages or disadvantages on the organizational resources as employees, money and time?

4. Cybercom's Innovation Capability.

Question:

This question is about rating the eight factors below from 1-5 during the interview. The goal is to analyse factors for Cybercom's Innovation Capability. Since we are conducting a qualitative research, we would like you to motivate each rate in some words. Below is an example of a scorecard with the eight "Innovation enablers" and "Performance levels" together with definitions for each factor.

Level one is "Very poor" and level five is "Very good".



An organisation's innovation capability profile by Dervitsiotis (2010)

Dervitsiotis (2010) eight enablers which determine an organisations Innovation Capability:

- Leadership Leadership capabilities in designing and establishing the vision, shared values, incentives for key stakeholders.
- 2. The organizational culture Engage creative talents, foster creative an environment and manage ideas effectively. Establish risk awareness and trust in accepting experiments with new ideas, accept failure provided by educational- and ethnical diversity and willingness to share and cooperate.
- **3.** The innovation resources & partnership Internal resources are available for competence. External partnerships can complement, and strengthen organization's skills, knowledge or uniqueness.
- Innovation strategy Identifies and acts upon new opportunities. Reflects on the portfolio of innovation projects, aiming to balance risks and benefits from short-term and long-term innovation investments.
- 5. Employee participation Valuable input for ideas and constant improvement supporting the innovation strategy.
- **6.** Customer participation Continuously generate feedback on the satisfaction of performance and products.
- **7.** Supplier participation Exploit expertise, competencies and support from partners in the development of new profitable ideas and products.
- 8. Innovation process effectiveness Utilises all the above inputs to select the best ideas for the development of new value-adding products, effectiveness in time to market, return investments in innovation and become new streams of revenues and profits.

5. Cybercom's Innovation Results.

Below is a model from Dervitsiotis (2010) which the previous six Innovation Capabilities (see question 4) can result in or be beneficial for the organization if managed right. The Innovation Results are Customer impacts, Employee impacts, Organisation impacts & Overall performance. Also, Value adding & cash generating innovations are an established Innovation Result. *See clarifications for concepts below!*

Definition:



Dervitsiotis (2010) Innovation process results

Dervitsiotis (2010) Innovation Results processes – Customer-, Employee- and Organization impacts:

- 1. Customer impacts Impact on customers as customer's satisfaction-level from products, along with ensuring loyalty.
- 2. Employee impacts Impact on employees' level of satisfaction, loyalty and cooperation within the organisation.
- **3.** Organizational impacts Impact on levels of trust, risk awareness, degree of cooperation, functionality and effectiveness of networks to facilitate the exchange of valuable information and tacit knowledge.

Dervitsiotis (2010) Innovation Results processes – Overall performance

- 1. Competitiveness regarding quality, productivity, and response time.
- Economic terms as measured by the revenue from new products, the time to break even, the return on total investment for innovations and most critically the revenue captured relative to the revenue generated from innovations;
- **3.** Market performance as measured by the percentage (%) change of market share and time to market;
- 4. Sustainable Goals (Environmental Footprint) as measured by the change in pollution levels and the change in requirements for energy or other critical resource from the use of the innovations. The 17 Sustainable Development Goals (UN, 2015) and the progress in each goal are a way of measuring success. Cybercom are having an internal goal of education all employees in the course "Digital Sustainability" at KTH.

Questions:

- Are you evaluating and analysing the results of the total innovation efforts? (see model above)
- If yes, is there an established model for evaluating innovation results? (see model above)
- If yes, are there any key areas that are being looked at? (see model above)
- If no, do you have any thoughts on why not?
- If no, do you believe start evaluating and analyzing the results of the total innovation efforts can have any positive effects on Cybercom's innovation performance?
- 6. Are you working with the combination of both *Innovation Capabilities* (see Q4 above) and *Innovation Results* (see Q5 above)?

Definition:

Innovation Capabilities (IC) + Innovation Results (IR) = Innovation Excellence

(Innovation Excellence is the sum if IC + IR)

Questions:

- Do you know if Cybercom analyzes Innovation Capabilities and Innovation Results together?
- If yes, how are the organization managing this analysis? And at which level?
- If no, do you believe it can be advantageous for the organization to start doing this analysis?

Appendix 2 – Thematic analysis – 81 concepts derived from 599 codes, designed by authors

						THEMATIC ANALYS	SI			
	Based on 53 codes	Based 55 codes	Based on 67 codes	Based on 65 Codes	Based on 59 codes	CONCEPTING LEVEI Based on 87 codes	Based on 25 codes	Based 73 codes	Bael on 52 codes	Based on 63 codes
CONCEPTS:	Leader 1	Mid. Leader 1	Leader 2	Mid. Leader 2	Leader 3	Top Management 1	Mid. Leader 3	Leader 6	Leader 4	Top Management 2
-	CC need to implement an IMS	Customer Centrédy is vibre innovaion happes. Our income and revenue source. (Balance CC and customer perspective fluo). (Two perspective a balance for susceful SCI. Cust.Cent: 1. O.u.P. perspective 2. CC perspective. Cutoroution happens with our customers - incondur s. innovalion s. innovalion s. innovalion	Increse clearity of CC communication – communicate vision, goals, strategies clearer and more frequent to the organisation.	Need of more systematics in the innovation process	Increase common/CC understanding of finnovation - increase the maturity level of innovation in CC.	Increase innovation-activites & took in daily processes – IIB enable agile teams to include innovation in daily processes.	Increase top management communication of visions & KPIX - Align understanding of CC vision, strategy, goals, Make common understanding of what is targeted.	Increase systematic approach at CC- level – Use terms du define areas, terative processes, validate compelence to assure right competence at right place.	Luck of structure and an systematic approach to IMS. We ty to work what larges, and is a score event an overall description of our organisation but not in a structured way, we work towards this IMS. (C. marcheome better in delvering a systemic 1-process as IMS and the systematic structure and the structure of the IMS and the systematic structure and the structure of the IMS and the systematic structure of the system of the structure of the system	An systematic approach is key for SCI ((i)-sule-beyond- pople's part of the stanger, we need a charac communicated strategy, of dearer gate, models, and here a so that the second our goals, a systematic change is required, and digital tatation is an enabler.)
2	CC & Local IZ needs systamatic processes to work with innovation.	No established/systematic process for following up KPI Uncker if its KPI innovation exists in CC. We need more KPIs to see if I-work valuable. We can then become more data driven in our decisions.)	More systematics innovation process – IMS. Systematic design & follow ups.	Establish "connecting the dots". perspective in CC for SCI – Both globally & locally. Leadership must faciliate CtD.	Clearer directives from top management – Innovation vision, I-strategy, KPI's to get there, follow up on these and improve.	Generate common CC understanding of innovation – will enable and fosker innovation in daily business. Show relation between customers and business.	Succesful innovation is also good branding – Show customers & employees what we do good. This will also foster CC culture.	Increase meaning of, and evolve freedom for IZ – freedom to further develop delivered solutions for customer needs. Take in closed cases and improve, share knowledge.	Innovation resource constraints. Creat challing to find time working with innovation. (ideas warms with the beasar lacking sensor. Occupancy elds in indox with makes at imposite to spend time on things who areat generating money directly. IZ-L only enabling What has bea done, not reflecting upon How the process has progressed.)	Not avare of any existing IMS on C C-level (lack of communication if IMS, ICI or innovations tracky/vion cestic, PDCA has nothing with innovation to do, this is feedback and evaluation in overythy operations.)
3	Increased customer centricity in I- process. (Increases S.C. Target to include the customer entire in the I- process. Goad having aspecifice, also financially sustainable)	The POC buttleneck. (POC's often not rational- needs to take number go-to-mutdet-numgy is needed) as tak-normpay out attri/IDS-site, bad ar ight site. As tak-normpay we see everyflung as a sall-problem = POC is solution: Tod-problem two today, we also need Basiness view for SCL	Redesign ledership competencies – Different processes requires different leadership styles. Ex: development and go to market.	Increase current lead ership in invivement & communication – Be invived in the duily business, char communication regarding vision & gaals. Create common ductismaling gaals, Create curron understanding throughout the org. Align leaders as extended arm.	Org. culture – unckar guidelnes gives unckar culture. Allocate resources to enable creativity.	Indentify common KPI's for BA and IZ (generate synergies) – Common KPI's vill foster such collab. Innovation is both development and business, should not be separated	Icrease IZ Systematic approach, also include other edgartments – idea generation, follow-ups, iterative processes, open up for departments outside IZ. Balance money, employees, and time.	Become smarter in identifying and designing offerings – Find more efficient ways of rividentifying the real value and work (toward) i. Validate simultaneously to improve.	She for $I\!Z$ sites around CC. We use much resources to synk with other $I\!Z$ sites.	Its not cherr how CC works with an I-drainegy noir-1- vision to effective CC-operation W ungetto become suscessful is contributing with low cursastores. In the 1- processes but I dan't experiment due where any votasitisting for our l-prograss. (Innovation-toise does not votasitisting for our l-prograss. (Innovation-toise does not exist, its not cher and arent communicated throughout the organisation.)
4	CC Ladership shuld increase common understanding for SCL	Ledership CC necks to establish a more systematic approach to I-avork. Hereire processes established in operation flough, (Foster Leadershipkish is sommissione, internal-salas- & piching internal skills. Grost that our culture accept failure)	Implement a common CC understanding of innovation– The organization should share the same understanding of the importance of innovation.	Org culture - foster collaborations between sits: departments, leaders efc. 16 gain synergies cflexts.	More business propreservice thinking – seeing beyout each problems, in ingrate innovation in more departments.	Increase & chrify internal CC communication – Toep management have to communicate to get the orgon offseare road. Clear vision, strategy, global KP1's edc.	Apply & manage different teaten-thy tybe – assure right person at right pixe. Enable knowledge sharing.	Transform focus & competence for CC-teadership for SCI – from Resourc-based, n Asset-based consultage make CD possib and give tools and since between explore and exploit.	Focts on specificing on specific customers systems, not on how consultants may share experiences and develop 1 in IZ.	Ned der Ledership Le, gub & miletones (RT1) o ruch SC1 (Their hure to exis a clear vision of why certain gube crists, and how it is of great importance to follow famo- otensito as oute. E.g. transformation from stack-based- consuling to scale hypothypethy. Their is a value for CC to having more central IAES. I. +work ventures gud and evaluation were the guid is to factor, particular to the scattering - A cleare immoving mores requires dense guids, we need a cleare guid and be able to essure a cleare influw of fixes, and how do we rule able to essure a cleare influw of them ad how do we are on force, we choose, and how do we ascelarit outhours? we make it a result of that?)
υ	1Z generates siles in CC today, and works uneffectively.	Under if for KPI innovation exists in CC (We need more KPIs to see II-work is valuable⇒ We can then become more data driven in our desisions. No established systematic process for following up KPI).	Foter innovation culture - Enable space for censivity access to leaders, ok to fall, invest in individui ideas to foster mativation.	Increase meaning of, and evolve IZ Male it part of care business, get rid of the mark as buing "fust stop?. Give increases to develop, e.g. KPI". managers bouns decrease it huns in IZ not utilizes. Enable knowledge transfer.	Define & evolve IZ's role in CC - IZ role today is to strive for increased havo belge, not innovaton. Inlegand IZ in the daily basiness.	In crease systematic processes - common approach, common followups, adjustable locally but towards same vision and goals. Structure for all above. Measure performance and results and evaluate.	Increase BA & IZ collaboration (synergies) – Vital for SCL, need common K PF's, work together, be evaluating together. Learn from eachother.	CC should become ustomer centricity experts – About knowing your customer, look at value creation potential not solutions for problem, not follow mg their strategy. You should guide not be guided. Important when heading towards ABC.	SCI has to allow an long-term focus, and not only strive for short-term money. (It is very important to carry only the innovation work going forward. In the short term, it does not make money, so there must be a long-term prospective in what we do. One must be proposed that it must cost at lited to be able to make money in the future. There is a great oppraness to it in the company, both from the owner and the management, which is assumity.)	If CC realizes the value of innovation, then it will be providined, toky in novation is not provided due to resource constraints and CC not understanding the value of i. (reaching out i-work from the org. can generate it in a more systematic approach (i.e. IZ'))
6	1Z is currently increasing local IZ- collaborations.	Leaderships main focus is not innovation (too faw loaders fones on innovation We lock I- strategy, focus on POC instead. Teth-problem view loady, we also need Business view for SCI).	Global & Local KP1's – Set clear and reachable global KP1's, let them direct local KP1's.	Develop common CC understanding of innovation – The value of kting innovation permate every project Innovation vs. Invention.	Increase systematics in the innovation process – KP1's directed to performance, common KP1's globally, and similar but few more beally. Falshwup more frequently, internal and with existences.	More space in org. culture required – Cric space for realization, movine and invest, long term view.		Increase network-density – Both supplier, employees and partners, enable know ledge sharing.	Leaders has to understand innovation, which demands hard work, (Educating staff in it result in more classuscions with customers -> The importance of a common understanding of innovation)	IZ should focus on ndient, infrast of incremental intronation & CCS offer products/services (CZ does not work or its CCS offer or products/service innovation. Identifying new researchemes with relial offers. What is the difference between business consulting and incremental innovation?)
7	Local & CC1-KP1:s (Each 1Z-L has 7 KP1:S, also a CC1-sumit from Management. Each quater all IZ-L present and discuss IZ KP1:s)	Innovation is not ROL (We invest in R&D, but low level of SCI)	Increase customer centricity in CC – Include the customer earlier in the process, start with identification of value.	Clearer and more focused KPI's – Global and local level. Global KPI's should be understood all over the org. Local should be aligned across sites and CC-	Customer centric approach - Focus on value creation from the beginning.	Increase customer centricity processes, if managed correctly- Good for SCI. We have to focus on value creation instead of short term subsidiarian.		Merge innovation , and business strategy – shared goals, shared KPI's, measure common performance.	"How to prove our value to exclames?" (oday use your to boild bug-tern rollinoss with our customers. We sum to show our expandy, notionly fails the first predimension that does do data we understand their mesh, not only be techn, fuit to better than they do to be able to childrer mess valuable solutions for beddy' and summer our bulancies.	Customer centricity is everything when working with SCL Way should we waste time on something which does not generate any what? (Customers were also en unrealistic visions, where we have terms tearing and resonase, but we still and to validate our i-progess). (Kapph all Tarmess customer certricity?)
∞	Organization culture (The culture should be individing and finn. It is also branding, KRelate to the creative space? occupancy-thiking? Asset- based consuling vs. Scale beyong people?	Lacking life-champions (No ide-owners, no bad-goy, driving ideas forward own if managament does not agree. We need this.) We are mothed att generating ideas, but lead at communicating them then out CC (otera)	Evaluate CC innovation – Giobally and Locally, same effort should be put on the performance and the results, as the idea generation.	Customer centricity managed with balance - focus on value when developing, keep customer close early, balance expectations with own beliefs.		Increase cross-site collaboration cross functional collab. betw cen- sites key for SCL.			Trend of ensittmers asking what CC can offer, (ofen 1Z design a POC to present a potential solution. Also, hard to attner new ensotences.)	We need a bug-term need-based approach, instead of short term monatury approach to stay competche tomorrow. Naturet vil damage (relate is transformation asses-based-consulting vs. so the lowyrat project occupancy level & contine space. To be precised as an muscl business patter, we need to develop our own organisation).
9		Our IMS-apprach is a bit narrowed, and not yet structured.	Widen, and increace competence in IZ. Let IZ become part of core business. Not just competence development			In crease meaning of, and evolve IZ – more employee participation, integrate to core bisness, set goals and measure performance.			Creative space for employees is important. (The more people manage to get involved, generating a sense of greater freedom among our employees. It is important to get a express takes on daily-basis, which gives a facing of a link houry in everyday work -> gives a higher employee subfaction.)	Current org. cultur fosters innovation, but lack an systematic approach to.
10		Generaling more 1 for our cumters would make some competiable (They still want they "Jubi", problems to be solved, burit" or are able to contribute more to their problem we might take on more maket shares. (+1R).								

	ع	∞	L.	6	Un	4	دى	N	-			
	Corrat org. sakir fotori isaoosisa, bel iskileg m systemisk pyprask.	We not a langum nock-boot approach, hand of their term manary approach to try computitive memory. Much we dhange, (rathe to standomized and bandomizing us, suck-boxy program, successful or the bandomizing us, suck-boxy program, successful or the entry open. To proposed as a transfer bandom prefer, we need to develop an own organizates).	Cutear curicity is everything when working with SCL. Wity housily we was times or surnificing within does not generate any unit (Cutearour and the currentiative sites), where we have to interest entropy and transmers have we full not in value or signapool. (Kopple III Turnes unstand curricity)	IZ Avoid focus on related, infrast of incremental manufation & C.C. offer productiverives (IZ does not were view in C.C. offer or productiverives innovation. In distribu- tive or remo-streams with related offer. What is the difference between business consulting and incremental innovation?)	If CC realises the value of harowstan, then it will be priorithmic (holy movement as priorithmic due to economic constraints and CC normaling the value of (braining ext a work) that the exp can generate it is more systematic approach (i.e. 127))	Not due Landership Le XPA & millenses to reach SCI. There are a start as due varies of the youting plan within add to be 1.6 for gain importance to fails within the start by part length. The is a valie of CC 1 having an oracle of the start of the start of the start of the start of the start by part length. The is a valie of CC 1 having an oracle of the starting an AVVP to iterations. A A start starting in AVVP to iteration. A start start in Avvec in AVVP to iteration. A start start in Avvec in Av	In our data: have CC works with an 4-strategy and 4-sides to effective CC-specific. We mgt to because succeds in controlling with 1-sear cutaneous. In this for processes, but 1 about opposes, formation of the strategy of the strategy pages, formations into observe statistics and and areast communicated insuppose the oppositions)	Not some of any exhiling DNS on CC-level fish of communication IT MS, KPI or incontinuousny vision exists PTOCA has nothing with incoments to its, this is founded, and evaluation in everyday operations.)	An systematic approach is hey for SCI (I studiological particle in particle strange, on studio data for some manual composition and the strange in special and significanties to a studied a systematic damp is special, and significanties to a studied a	Top Management 2		
Generating more I for our cusumters would make as more competible (Tary still wan there "daily" problems to be solved, but if we are able to contribute more to theirs problem we might able to contribute more to theirs problem we might	Our INS-approach is a bit narrowed, and not yet structured.	Laking kin-champions (No kin-swrates, no badyops driving kina (Kerard even if managunati choa na gayne Varoo fata). We are not had ang panuting kana, ber boh at communicating them fato out CC (sizes)	Inservice is not ROL (We next in RAD, but low level of SCI)	Leaderships main focus is not innovation (no few leader focus on innovation. We ladd - strategy, focus on PCC custod. Tech-proben view today, we also need Business view for SCI).	Under if for KPI harvorden edste in CC (We need meet KPI: to use if i-welk is whinkle \sim We can be become more during the in- ductions. No established/systematic process for following up (CF).	Lindrahly CC rank to mithika a mere vormatik upprova to a search. Therein process a sublack in operation dough CP of Parking instantia MAC Good far our sublace accept failure)	The POC bettined, EVCs, often not realized- need to take to market species market strange is needed). At takes, seemeng special affit Micside, bad artight disk. As take species, are provided and oversthing as taked problem = POC is subsidiant Ted problem = we lading we also need Balaneous view for SCL	No enablished systematic proper for failuring append Charles of the EU source and C.C. We can have been and the down in our devision enabling.)	Contener Catalogy is when incoments happen. Our more an increase some framers C-rate and many proposed body. Contener C-rate requests C-regression Contener () car incredents C-regression Conteners () car incredents () cartered framerica vs. incoments).	Mid. Leader 1		
	Increase meaning of, and evolve 12 more employee participation, imagine to core buintset, set gools and measure performance.	Increase cross-site collaboration – cross functional collab between sithe key for SCL.	Increase cutemer entricity processes, If managed entredy- food for SCI. We have to focus on value creation initials of short term satisfication.	More reflective space in org. culture required – Give space for realization, motivate and invest, long term view.	Increase systematic processes - common approach, common followups, adjustichie keagly bat towards sand solution and gook. Structure for all above. Measure performance and results and evaluate.	Increase & durify internal CC communications - Trip management have to communicate to get for eng on the same coal Caser visco, strategy, global XPV v siz.	Indentify sommon KPI's, for BA and IZ (genrate synergies) – Common KPI's vill four such collub. Innovators is both development and business, should not be separated.	Gerrate common CC understanding of lanewrine – stilly business. Show relation between outstaness and butiness.	Increse harvetiles-archites & took in diffy processes -: 118 eardwagic turns to include incorreion is daily processes	Top Management 1		
	Creative spars for employees is important. (The new pople as sense of grant mechanism go to grant mechanism and go to opress dises on dialy-basis gets opress dises on dialy-basis which greas fording of a line lump in everyday work> gives a higher employee satisfication.)	Trend of customers acking what CC can offer, (vika 12 design a POC to present a potenial solution. Also, hurd to attact new customers.)	"How to prove our values to construmers": (using year want to build long-term characterise with our construmers. We want to show our equiption and the show the show to be shown the ident frame valuable solutions for today A and to ensure a balance and the show to be able to defere more valuable solutions for today A and tomorrow basiness.	Leaders has to understand innovation, which demands hard work, (Educating stiff in 1 result in more 1-discussions with customers ->> The importance of a controon understanding of innovation)	SCI has to allow an iong-term flows, and not only strive for short-term money. (It is very important to carry out the movities werk going floward. In the short-term, it does not money, so there must be a long- term perspective in what we do. Con-mort ba-morted do a mort	Four or specific go specific continues system, set on how consultatis any share experiences and develop 1 in IZ.	Silot far IZ-álts around CC. We aus much resources to ynk with other IZ-álts.	Transvation resource constraints. Great challange to find time working with innovation. (Idea worm over finder beauen lacking resource: Ourquessy-level is in focus which makes it impossible to sport lime one timing who areat generating moug directly. [Z-1, only endone What has bee done, not ethologing upon it low the process has programsd.)	Lack of structure and an pyterumic toppends to DIS. We Ty two we're that larger, and at these neutral neoral discreptors of our opprintents by the structure of our opprintents become better in adverting a structure larger and the structure become better in adverting a systemic larger and the structure discretions of gas an and the structure discretion will get in an advertised systemic larger and the structure discretion will get in an advertised by systemic larger and the structure discretion of the structure of the structure of the structure of the structure of the structure (CC).	Leader 4		
			Customer centric approach - Focus en value creation from the beginning	Increase systematics in the innovation process - KPU's directed by performance, coernon KPU's globally, and sensitive free more locally. Follow up more frequently, internal and with customers.	Define & evolve 12's role in CC – 12 role today is to strive for increased have ledge, not innovation. Integrate 12 in the daily business.	Mere batánas perspectivas thálaig - scéng legond tech problem, integrate anoronáne in mere departments	Org. culture unclear guiddines gives unclear culture. A liseate resources to enable creativity.	Clearer directives from top management - Incovinios vision, I-strategy, KFT's to get there, follow up on these and improve.	Increase commentCC anderstanding of American- increase the manify level of increasion in CC.	Leader 3		
			Merge innovation, and business stratege - Lancal goals, khared KTT, massaire common performance.	Increase activork-deniaity – Both supplier, employees and partners, enable knowledge sharing	CC housd become customer centricity experts – Alcout knowing your customer, look at white creatise potential not solutions for problem, not following their transper. You should guide not be guided important when heading towards A no	Tratient fon 4 supetite for CC444m3b for SC1-for Reservices, 8 Auto2005 Reservices, 8 Auto2005 provide and the Hulton provide and the Hulton between explore and exploit.	Becone smarter in identifying and designing offerings – Find more officient ways of identifying the real value and work towards it. Validate simultaneously to improve	Increase meaning of, and reake freedom for IZ – freedom to finder develop determine studiests for custome mosts. Take in closed cases and improve, share knowlodge	Increase systematic approach at CC-seve - Users the define sense, hareite processor, validie somprimer is same regime somprimer is angle place.	Leader 6		
	Wides, and Increase sumpetence In 12. Let IZ become part of one busines: Nea juit competence development	Evaluate CC lanovation - Globally and Loadly, sume effect should be on the performance and the results, as the idea generation.	Increase eastener centricity in CC: Include the customer erritire in the process, start with intraffication of value.	Global & Local KPI's – Set clear and reachable global KPI's, let them direct local KPI's.	Foster innovation culture - Enable space for creativity, access to leaders, ok to full, avorst in individual ideas to foster motivation.	Implement a commune CC watch resulting of the avoid that – The experiments in which if also the trans- transformation of the importance of incorrection.	Redesign badership competencies - Different processes requires different badeeting syste. Ex development and go to market.	Mere systematics in avoration process - INS: Systematic design & follow upps.	Increase charity of CC communications	Leader 2	THEMES	THEMATIC ANA
					LICTURE B.A. & IZ collaboration (typergine) - Yial for SC1, and scenarios KYF1, weth logistic, be evaluating logistic Learn from stabular.	Apph & mange different leadership types - autor tigle power ar tigle piece. Tranké tenerekige shirnig	Leren IZ Symmic approxis du la bide eller digitanti Leren IZ Symmic approxis duration procession, sport of digermenti oxide IZ bilance many, surphysis, and fina.	Succeld have the is the good tranking. Sive entropy a employee whe web good The will de four CC value.	Increase top mangement terminalistics of Values & NCT1- Alguence including of CC vision, analogy, pash Value common maternaniling of which is support.	Mid. Leader 3		LYSIS
		Conner cruticly manyed with baker - from or wher when developing, key memore does only, bakers experiments with our build.	Currer në nave forand XXY-, Giskë at husi bud. Giskë XYYs sharibë undërmond dë ore fix ng. Lock sharibë veliged same sher në CC-	Develop common CC understanding of interaction - The value of lenging interaction permute every project. Interaction vs. Interaction.	Increase maning of, and works IZ -Adda: I part of core business part of the manager basis advances of hours spent in IZ not utilizes. Finalsk have idage transfer.	Og elter- for editorián bren ita ápritest, lados et le pia roregio elte.	Increase current hedership involvement & communication - Bo moving the heigh Nations, clare communication specifies you're 4 gawl. Chrone anneus materianning in troughest from cy. Alog headen as extended ens.	Extable "searching the dets" properties in CC for SCI - Bode globally & boodly. Londening multi-failure CD.	Nod of mer systematic is the investing prove	Mid. Leader 2		
		Oppainted other, (The solar should be including and its its its interflag), (Kitten is the sensitive speet)' compares distability? A statebased somaling us. Sola hyperga popula'	Look CC KNPs finds IC is 1225, doi 1001 sum from Xinagament Tash yaar at IZZ, proset and dianas IZ (PE))	17 k orroty incruing loa 12-sühlvariins.	IZ generates allon in CC today, and works anotheribidy.	CC Ladrah) Anal leras suma udertating is SCI.	Increased stationer controlly in 3 process, flacenous SCI Trappe to bandar do acumenter offers in the 1 process. Cool barring a specifier, also financially unaitability	CC & Local IZ ands systemic process to work with Interviets.	CC and to implement us INS	Leader 1		
			CONCEPT CONSTITUTES OF MORE THAN ONE THEME		COLLABORATION & COMMUNICATION	COMMON UNDERSTANDING	LEADERSHIP CAPABILITIES	STRATECY	SYSTEMATIC WAY OF WORKING	5 THEMES BASED ON CONCEPTS AND CODES		

Appendix 3 - Thematic analysis -5 themes derived from 81 concepts, designed by authors

Analysis model – Exploring relationship	s between Theoretical frameworek	& Empirical Findings in Inno	vation Management from a Leaders	hip perspective
Empired findings Theoretical Framework	Systematic way of working	Strategy	Leadership Capabilities	Common understanding
INNOVATION MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORKS				
Innovation Management Systems (IMS)		Ш	, L1, ML1, L4, ML9, Majority, TN	ALL
Leadership (Innovation- vision, strategy, commitment & policy)	ALL	(ALL) TL1, L5, ML9, TL3	ALL (- L1 & L5) L1, L5, ML1, TL2, T11, L3, L2, ML1, L2	ML9
Context of organisation (external & internal issues, collaboration)			TL2	Majority
Stage Gate + Funnel			ML3, L2	
Plan, Do, Check & Act-cycle			ML1	
Innovation Excellence (IE)				ALL
Overall Innovation Capability level (IC)	ALL	I	1, TL2, TL1, L2, Majority, TM1, L3	
(IC) Leadership (overall capabilities level)	TL1,TL3		ML1, L3, TL1, L2	(ALL)L5,TL3,L4,ML9,L2,ML2,
(IC) Organisational culture (IC) Resources & Partnerships	TL1		L1 L2	ML8
(IC) Innovation Strategy	TL3,L5,L6,ML9,L10	(ALL)ML2,TL1,ML9,L7,L6,T L3	TL1, L3, L3	ML9,TL3,
(IC) Employee Participation				TLI,
(IC) Customer participation (IC) Supplier participation				ML9
(IC) Innovation process effectiveness	TL3,L5,L6,ML9,L10			ALL
Overall Innovation Results (IR)	ALL		L2, Majority, TM1	
(IR) Employee impacts	L6,			
(IR) Organisation Impacts	L6,			
(IR) Overall performance	TL3,All except ML9			L5,TL3,L4,
INNOVATION MANAGEMENT CONCEPTS				
Customer Centricity	ALL	(All)ML2,TL3,ML9,TL1,		(ALL)TL1,ML8,L6,L10,L7
Measuring & Evaluating	(Majority) ML8,ML2,		L4	
Towards Asset-based consulting	L5,L6,TL1 (Half of the Leaders)		L2	

Appendix 4 – Analysis model, designed by authors



Appendix 5 – The ISO Framework (ISO 56002 standard., 2019), illustrated by authors